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STATEMENT OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL'S RESPONSIBILITIES
AND
PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Secretary-General's Responsibilities
The Secretary-General is required by the Financial Regulations to maintain such accounts as
are necessary and to prepare financial statements for each year showing: the statement of the
Organization’s income and expenditure for all funds; the status of appropriations; and the
statements of the Organization's assets and liabilities at the close of the year. He is also
required to give such other information as may be necessary to indicate the Organization's
current financial position.
To fulfil this responsibility, the Secretary-General is responsible for establishing detailed
financial rules and procedures to ensure: effective financial administration; the exercise of
economy; and the effective custody of the Organization's physical assets. The SecretaryGeneral is also required to maintain an internal financial control which shall provide an
effective examination of financial transactions to ensure: the regularity of the receipt, custody
and disbursement of all funds; and the conformity of commitments or obligations with the
appropriations or other financial provisions voted by the Executive Council, or with the
purposes, rules or provisions relating to the Fund concerned.
Presentation of the Financial Statements for the year 2021
The following appended financial statements, comprising Statements I, II, III, IV and V, and
the notes to the Financial Statements were properly prepared in accordance with the Financial
Regulations and the International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and are hereby certified
correct.

(Dr Wenjian Zhang)
Assistant Secretary-General
19 April 2022

(Prof. Petteri Taalas)
Secretary-General
19 April 2022

p. 3

STATEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL FOR 2021

1.

Scope of responsibility

As Secretary-General of the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), I am accountable, in
accordance with the responsibility assigned to me, in particular, in Article 22 (a) of the
Convention, Regulation 153 (1) of the General Regulations and Article 13 of the Financial
Regulations, for maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the achievement
of the Organization’s policies, aims and objectives, as set by the WMO Members.
2.

Purpose of the system of internal control

The system of internal control is designed to reduce and manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve the Organization’s objectives. Therefore, it can only provide a reasonable
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. It is based on an ongoing process designed to
identify the principal risks, to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and economically. WMO Secretariat is charged with the
responsibility for establishing a network of processes with the objective of controlling the
operations of WMO in a manner that provides the governing bodies with reasonable assurance
that:
•

The Organization’s plan, programmes, goals, and objectives are achieved

•

Resources are acquired economically and employed profitably

•

The Secretariat’s resources (including its people, systems, data/information) are
adequately protected

•

The actions of directors, officers, and employees are in compliance with the
Organization’s policies, standards, plans and procedures, and all relevant laws and
regulations

•

Data and information published either internally or externally is accurate, reliable,
and timely

Risk management and the management of internal controls are functions of management and
are an integral part of the overall process of managing operations. As such, it is the
responsibility of WMO Secretariat at all levels to:

3.

•

Identify and evaluate the exposures to possible risks that relate to their particular
sphere of operations

•

Specify and propose policies, plans, operating standards, procedures, and systems
to be used to minimize, and/or mitigate the risks associated with the exposures
identified

•

Establish practical controlling processes that require and encourage employees to
carry out their duties and responsibilities in a manner that helps achieve the control
objectives outlined in the preceding paragraph

•

Maintain the effectiveness of the controlling processes that have been established
and foster continuous improvement to these processes.

Capacity to handle risk

Strategic and operational planning: The 2020–2023 WMO Strategic Plan defines Organizationwide Long-Term Goals, Strategic Objectives and priorities and the 2020–2023 Operating Plan
provides a comprehensive reference for all constituencies and is a single source for
departmental annual budgets regardless of funding sources, as well as for monitoring,
evaluation and risk management. The annual Operating Plan for 2021, developed through a
collaborative process, serves as a corporate tool for budgeting, monitoring and risk
management. Directors of Departments are assigned lead responsibility for the Long-Term
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Goals and their Strategic Objectives are reflected in the Senior Management Compacts. The
organizational performance as well as the performance of the Senior Managers are monitored
and reported to the Board of Directors on a regular basis.
Monitoring and evaluation: An Executive Dashboard, launched in 2021, facilitates the work of
the Board of Directors with at-a-glance, consolidated data on programmatic and key
organizational processes performance. For the strategic monitoring through Key Performance
Indicators, “Rolling Reviews of Performance” are carried out at the operational level, which is
intended to uncover systemic problems, hidden patterns, unknown correlations, trends and
other information that can assist the Secretariat in improving the efficiency and efficacy of its
operations as well as in making evidence-based decisions. Assistance in evaluation is provided
to project managers in evaluation planning. An evaluation repository created in 2020
constitutes a comprehensive archive of WMO evaluations that nurtures a culture of learning
and knowledge sharing, resulting in improved design of programmes and projects.
Risk Management: The WMO Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process, initiated in 2006 as
an integral part of the system of internal control, is integrated in planning, monitoring and
evaluation processes and key organizational processes (Standing Instructions), as
recommended by the Audit Committee. The ERM is based on the WMO Risk Management
Policy approved by the Executive Council in 2011 and on the Risk Management Framework
introduced in 2012. The risk management process is described in Chapter 14 of the Standing
Instruction.
Risk management is operationalized at three levels: (a) entity level for organizational risks;
(b) programmatic level in relation to the implementation of the Strategic and Operating Plan;
and (c) process/activity level for administrative operations, as follows:
(1)

Operating Plan (OP) - corporate and department levels: specific Performance Indicators
and risk assessment included in the OP (at the level of Strategic Objectives);

(2)

WMO reform – corporate level: to address associated risks, the Constituent Body
Reform Task Force comprised of the members of Executive Council oversaw transition
process and conclude its mandate in June 2020. EC-72 requested the Policy Advisory
Committee to prepare a plan for the evaluation of the reform of WMO constituent
bodies and its follow up during the eighteenth financial period and submit it to the
seventy-third session of the Executive Council (EC-73). The Secretariat developed the
terms of reference and Key Performance Indicators for the independent evaluation of
the constituent bodies reform and coordinated the process of selecting the evaluators.
This evaluation was commissioned by EC in line with the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU)
recommendation. The EC Task Force on the Evaluation of the Reform met on 4 March
2022 and provided initial guidance to the evaluation team. A second meeting of the
Task Force took place on 6 April 2022 to review the draft inception report;

(3)

Key organizational processes – corporate, department and process levels: risk control
matrices are maintained for all key organizational processes. Process owners have
responsibility to manage risks; directors of departments (1st line of defence)
accountable for compliance with instructions; The Controller established in 2019 is
responsible for compliance verification including the follow up to audit
recommendations; the Director of the Secretary-General’s Cabinet Office (2nd line of
defence in 2019) is responsible for compliance assurance;

(4)

Project management – corporate, department and project level: step-by-step process
with clear responsibilities is stipulated in the Chapter 13 of the Standing Instructions;
this includes risk management at project level. Project risks are identified, recorded in
the corporate electronic project planning and monitoring tool (ePM). Project
Management Board (PMB) quarterly reviews high risks, measures and actions taken
reported by directors of departments;
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(5)

COVID-19 – corporate level: In accordance with the request of the Executive Council,
the Secretary-General continues monitoring the impacts of COVID-19 on the
functioning of the key networks and facilities of the Organization and its Secretariat;

(6)

Cybersecurity – corporate level. Based on an agreement with the United Nations
International Computing Centre (ICC), ICC provides WMO with a Chief Information
Security Officer role. The scope of the agreement covers ICT security policy, risk
management, security operations and administration pertaining to cybersecurity;

(7)

Political, reputational, fraud and other high risks emerging from the above processes
are addressed at the Executive Management and Committee of Directors, as
appropriate.

Fraud prevention, detection and investigation: WMO has a “Zero Tolerance” policy for any type
of fraud, corruption and other proscribed practices. The Financial Regulation 13.8 stipulates
that the Internal Oversight Office (IOO) is responsible for investigating all allegations or
presumptions of fraud and for conducting inspections of services and organizational units.
According to the Annex of the Financial Regulations, the External Audit reports to the
Executive Council on cases of fraud or presumptive fraud. The WMO Ethics Framework
comprises the Code of Ethics and the WMO Policy Against Fraud and Other Proscribed
Practices. The Code of Ethics stipulates the duty of WMO staff members to bring irregularities
(including fraud) to light and cooperate with investigations. The WMO Policy Against
Fraudulent and Other Proscribed Practices outlines the policy and procedures to prevent,
detect and respond to fraudulent and other proscribed practices. The Staff Rule 112.2(c)
stipulates that staff members have the duty: (i) to report any breach of WMO Regulations and
Rules to the officials whose responsibility is to take appropriate action; and (ii) to cooperate
with duly authorized audits and investigations. The Staff Regulation Article 10 foresees
disciplinary measures to be imposed on staff members who engage in misconduct, such as
fraud.
Publications: The Publications Board continues to plan and monitor production of WMO
publications on a quarterly basis (virtually) and ensures quality, timeliness and efficiency of
production with respect to the publishing policy, regulations and mandatory publications
approved by Congress. The Publications Board advises the Secretary-General on the
production schedule and any relevant risks. This publishing process is streamlined and well
documented.
Procurement: The Procurement and Contracts Committee reviews relevant procurement cases
and advises the Secretary-General on appropriate procurement actions.
Investments: The Investment Committee monitors the investments of WMO to ensure they are
consistent with the WMO Investment Policy and reports to Secretary-General any variations
from the policy, the reasons therefore and remedial actions. The WMO Secretariat monitors
cash balances on an ongoing basis and reports the status of cash balances to the Board of
Directors or a regular basis. The exchange rate fluctuations and interest rates are carefully
monitored by the Treasurer and Chief of Finance to mitigate exchange rate and interest rate
risk within the investment portfolio.
4.

Review of effectiveness

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls is informed by the work of
directors, Chiefs and programme managers within the WMO Secretariat, who have
responsibility for the identification and maintenance of the internal control framework in their
areas of delegation of authority and responsibility. I derive assurance from statements on
internal control signed by key WMO managers/officers. These statements recognize their
responsibility for having and maintaining in their areas well-functioning system of internal
controls aimed at preventing and/or detecting instances of fraud and major errors. The
statement includes their actions taken on identified risks in key organizational processes as
well as their actions taken on IOO, the JIU, the Audit and Oversight Committee, and External
Audit recommendations.
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The WMO Secretariat is subject to internal audit by IOO. The work of the IOO is informed by
an assessment of the risks to which the Secretariat is exposed, and annual internal audit plans
are noted by the WMO Audit and Oversight Committee and approved by me. The Director of
IOO provides me with an annual accountability report. The Audit and Oversight Committee
and the External Auditor of WMO review this report. The opinion of the Director of IOO
presents an overall assessment of the systems of governance, risk management and internal
control in WMO. It is based upon: (i) the results of internal oversight engagements completed
in 2021 (see Annex), including assessment of the framework and processes for the
management of risk; (ii) the results of external oversight exercises untaken by the External
Auditor, JIU, and the Audit and Oversight Committee; and (iii) prior audit results and
corrective actions taken and reported by management. The Director of IOO has concluded
that IOO can provide reasonable assurance on the system of intern controls operating during
2021. He has also drawn attention to a few issues that merit further attention to achieve
some improvements.
I am further advised by the WMO Audit and Oversight Committee, responsible for assessing
whether major issues reported by IOO and the External Auditor have been satisfactorily
addressed. The Audit and Oversight Committee reports to the Executive Council on important
matters pertaining to the Organization’s controlling processes.
5.

Significant internal control matters arising during the year 2021

During 2021, I have addressed the various matters identified through the internal feedback
process, internal and external audits and the Audit and Oversight Committee (AOC), as
provided below. Based on these actions, as well as on the assurance provided by 25 senior
officials (first, second and third line), I can confirm that controls are working well, and there
are, in my opinion, no material and significant matters that remained unresolved.
Following the WMO reform, including the Secretariat restructuring, the Secretariat structure
with related responsibilities and delegated authority have been clearly defined in Chapter 1 of
the Standing Instruction. The Accountability and Internal Control Frameworks were
developed, approved and issued as part of the Chapter 1 of the Standing Instructions. The
Risk Appetite Framework and the Risk Appetite Statements were approved by the Executive
Council at its 74th session. A risk management and maturity self-assessment was conducted
and identified both positive developments and areas for improvement.
Following the amendments to Staff Regulations adopted in 2020 by the Executive Council, the
Staff Rules were updated by clearly defining the basic rights and obligations of staff. The
revised Staff Rule 112.2(c) clearly defines the obligation of staff members to report on any
breach of WMO Regulations and Rules to the officials whose responsibility is to take
appropriate action and to cooperate with duly authorized audits and investigations.
The Secretariat placed priority on the implementation of the audit recommendations. Up to
date, the Secretariat implemented: (i) 24 out of 33 open recommendations of the External
Auditor (subject to validation by the External Auditor); (ii) 5 out of 14 open recommendations
of AOC; (iii) 69 out of 101 recommendations of IOO; and (iv) 76 out of 95 of JIU, which is
higher than the average implementation rate in the UN system.
The COVID-19 pandemic considerably affected the implementation of the WMO programmatic
activities. The Secretariat, however, ensured overall critical business continuity, staff safety
and timely communication within the Secretariat and with WMO Members and external
partners. Emerging risks and issues were monitored and managed. Controls for the corporate
level critical business continuity was properly implemented. Several lockdowns with remote
working of the Secretariat staff and decisions were managed efficiently and safely in line with
regular advice of the Swiss Federal authorities and UN Security management team.
Needs were identified for the strengthening of the WMO Cybersecurity Framework to keep up
with the evolving use of technology: areas needing attention include the updating of policies
and procedures, the assignment of roles and responsibilities, and monitoring activities. Since
April 2021, the Secretariat has been monitoring the implementation of the Information
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Security Plan that is an ongoing operational plan that contains cybersecurity and continuously
enhances WMO resilience to cybersecurity.
Weaknesses were pointed out internally in the area of inventory management, such as lack of
a complete physical inventory and accuracy in the existing inventory. Measures were taken to
address these issues. Furthermore, based on the remarks and resulting recommendations of
the External Auditor, further corrective actions will be taken to address weaknesses in the
inventory management.
On the basis of the improvements achieved in 2021, further actions aimed at further
enhancements will be envisaged in internal controls in 2022, such as promotion of
accountability, delegation of authority, and continuous compliance with the WMO regulatory
framework.
Generally, I consider that the areas that are not yet fully addressed do not impair my capacity
to issue the Statement on Internal Controls.
6.

Statement

I am committed to ensure continuous improvement of the system of internal
controls and to address weaknesses in internal controls noted during the year. I am also
encouraged by the continuing implementation of oversight recommendations during the past
year. However, even effective internal control, no matter how well designed has inherent
limitations, including the possibility of circumvention, and therefore can provide only
reasonable assurance. Further, because of changes of conditions, the effectiveness of internal
control may vary over time. Based on the above, I conclude that the WMO Secretariat had an
adequate system of internal control for the year ended 31 December 2021, and up to the date
of the approval of the financial statements.

(Prof. Petteri Taalas)
Secretary-General
3 May 2022
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Annex to the Statement on Internal Control 2021
Internal audits completed in 2021

Engagement

Report Number

Fellowships Some Improvement Needed

2021–01

Regional Offices Locations Some Improvement
Needed

2021–02

Recruitment and Separation Major
Improvement Needed

2021–03

Home Leave Some Improvement Needed

2021–04

Cybersecurity Major Improvement Needed

2021–05

Green Climate Fund Grant Not Applicable

2021–06

Report Number Engagement Rating
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SECRETARY-GENERAL’S STATEMENT
Introduction
1.
In accordance with Article 14 of the Financial Regulations, I have the honour to submit to
the Executive Council (hereinafter “the Council”), for approval, the financial statements of
WMO for the year ended 31 December 2021. The External Auditor has given his opinion and
report on the 2021 financial statements, both of which are also submitted to the Council, as
required by Financial Regulation 15.10 and the Annex to the Financial Regulations.
Financial Analysis
Summary
2.
WMO has serviced its Members in 2021 with its dedicated staff. By the end of 2021, the
total number of fixed-term and permanent staff employed by the WMO Secretariat from all
funding sources, excluding those staff employed by the unconsolidated entities administered
by WMO, was 315 as compared to 277 a year ago. The increase in staff is due to the relatively
low level of staff employed at the end of 2020 due to the reorganization and the hiring of
additional technical staff in 2021.
3.
WMO prepares its financial statements in accordance with the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS), under which revenues are recognized in the year to which they
relate, in accordance with the Organization’s accounting policies, and expenses are recognized
in the year in which the goods or services are delivered. Consequently, expenses in any one
year may be higher or lower than the revenue in that year.
4.
WMO administers the activities of seven entities external to WMO; however, WMO does
not exercise full operational and financial control of these entities. The financial statements,
and the corresponding analysis below, include three of those entities which are required to be
accounted for as Joint Ventures or Associates under IPSAS and does not include the other four
entities. More details are provided in Notes 3.15 and 3.16.
5.
IPSAS requires the financial statements to provide information by segment. A segment is
a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which financial information is reported
separately. WMO classifies all projects, operations and fund activities into five segments: (i)
General Fund Group; (ii) Regular Budget Support Funds; (iii) Event Funds; (iv) Development,
Technical Assistance and Technical Cooperation Funds; and (v) National Technical Support
Funds. WMO reports on the transactions of each segment for the year and on the balances
held in each segment at the end of the year. Further details can be found in Note 8.
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
6.
The COVID-19 pandemic continued to have a significant impact on the operations and
activities of WMO during 2021, which can be seen in the financial results for the year. Most
significantly, the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in the continued low level of travel related
expenditures such as tickets and daily subsistence allowances as these activities were unable
to occur. These reductions were significantly offset by an increase in expenditures related to
grants and financial contributions, as well as the short-term staff and consultant category
reflecting the reprogramming of activities from direct travel and meeting activities to other
modalities of programmatic delivery. In addition, there were increases in contractual expenses
which were required to support the facilitation of online meetings and increased interpretation.
Many of the meetings that could not be held virtually have been postponed. These deferred
meetings began to take place in the last part of 2021 and many are expected to be held in
2022, thus utilizing a portion of the underspend related to travel in 2020 and 2021.
7.
In addition, there has been an underspend in the category of fellowships and training
funded by the regular budget as a result of reduced activity at educational institutions and
reduced opportunities for face-to-face training.
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8.
In terms of the implementation of extrabudgetary funded activities, expenses were
approximately 17% lower in 2021 as compared to 2020 and 27% lower as compared to 2019,
with the primary reason for the reduction being the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. There
were significant reductions in the level of meetings and projects that generally related to
activities performed by the Organization’s Implementing Partners, which reduced by
approximately 30% from CHF 7.5 million in 2020 to CHF 5.1 million in 2021. It is expected
that the implementation of these activities will occur in 2022 and the underlying agreements
with Implementing Partners have been amended to reflect these expectations. During 2021,
approximately CHF 250,000 was returned to donors for activities that could not be completed
partially due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the inability of the donor to extend
the period of implementation of the underlying activities. Depending upon the level of
implementation of extrabudgetary funded activities in 2022, it is possible that some additional
amounts of extrabudgetary funds may need to be returned to donors based upon the terms of
the donor agreements.
9.
Table 1 below provides a high level summary of the financial performance for 2021 and
2020 and the financial position at the end of 2021 and 2020. These figures include all activities
for both the General Fund and Trust Funds with separate figures highlighted for the General
Fund.
Table 1: Financial Highlights (Swiss Francs thousands)
Financial Performance

2021

2020

Total WMO Revenue

93,381

87,573

Total WMO Expenses

79,501

84,024

Annual WMO Surplus/(Deficit)

13,880

3,549

General Fund Annual IPSAS Surplus (Deficit)

11,049

9,654

2021

2020

Total WMO Assets

237,073

225,147

Total WMO Liabilities

215,248

230,905

WMO Net Assets

21,825

(5,758)

Gross Assessed Contributions Receivable

30,762

25,175

3,064

(21,033)

45,800

35,429

Financial Position

General Fund Net assets
General Fund Cash and Cash Equivalents 1
Financial Performance

10. The financial performance for 2021 is disclosed in Statement II – Statement of Financial
Performance. This shows that the overall IPSAS surplus was CHF 13.8 million in 2021,
representing an improvement of CHF 10.3 million as compared to an IPSAS surplus of CHF 3.5
million in 2020. The overall IPSAS surplus was primarily related to surpluses realized in the
General Fund Group as a result of reduced expenditures due to the delayed hiring of staff
against the General Fund following the WMO Secretariat reorganization in 2020 and reduced
expenses during 2021 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

1

Amounts exclude funds held in trust for other entities
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11. The other fund groups also experienced IPSAS surpluses during 2021 resulting from the
recognition of certain voluntary contributions up front as these contributions did not contain
conditions requiring deferral. The movements in both revenue and expenses are explained in
the following paragraphs.
Table 2 – Comparative Revenue Analysis (Swiss Franc thousands)
Revenue Category
Assessed Contributions
Voluntary Contributions
Revenue from Services
Other Revenue
In-Kind Contributions
Total Revenue

2021
67,886
18,879
1,885
2,861
1,870
93,381

2020
67,886
18,213
1,919
(2,315)
1,870
87,573

Difference
666
(34)
5,176
5,808

Change (%)
3.7
(1.8)
223.6
6.6

12. As can be seen from Table 2 above, the overall increase in revenue of 6.6% was the
result of the following:
(a)

(b)
(c)

A CHF 0.7 million (3.7%) increase in revenue from voluntary contributions,
primarily related to a consistent level of underlying expenditures and a lower level
of refundable contributions – in 2020 there was a large refundable contribution
recognized as a reduction to voluntary contributions;
An overall gain in other revenue driven primarily by realized and unrealized foreign
exchange gains related to the strengthening of the Swiss Franc against the US
dollar during 2021;
There was no change in the amount of assessed contributions as the budget for the
2020–2021 biennium is recognized equally between the two constituent years in
line with the Financial Regulations.

13. Within other revenue, WMO recognized negative interest in the amount of CHF 129,000
related to the prevailing negative interest rate environment of CHF deposits. The WMO
Secretariat continues to work with its financial institutions and partners to reduce or mitigate
the levels of negative interest; however, it is expected that some negative interest will be
incurred in the foreseeable future.
14. During 2021 and 2020, in-kind contributions have been recognized in respect of land and
an interest free loan provided by the Swiss authorities. WMO also receives support from
Members to the regional WMO offices and, when required, services in-kind from Members
related to the support provided for WMO meetings held in their countries, which are not
recognized in the financial statements.
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Chart 1 – Comparative Revenue by Category

15. Chart 1 above shows the composition of revenue for 2021 and 2020 by the category of
revenue. As can be seen from the chart, the percentage of revenue by category has remained
consistent from year-to-year, with the largest portion of revenue being derived from assessed
contributions at 73% and 78% for 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Table 3 – Comparative Expenditure Analysis (Swiss Franc thousands)
Expense Category
Salaries and employee
benefits
Meeting and projects
Travel
Supplies, consumable and
other running costs
Depreciation and
amortization
In-kind expenses
Finance costs
Fellowships and training
Other expenses
Impact of joint ventures
Total Expense

2021

2020

Difference

Change (%)

54,833

58,515

(3,682)

(6.3)

7,454
308

9,048
630

(1,594)
(322)

(17.6)
(51.1)

6,140

6,473

(333)

(5.1)

4,306

4,211

95

2.4

1,870
2,806
829
1,522
(567)
79,501

1,870
1,322
899
1,084
(28)
84,024

1,484
(70)
438
(539)
(4,523)

112.3
(7.8)
40.4
N/A 2
(5.4)

16. As can be seen from Table 3, total expenses for 2021 were 5.4% lower than 2020. The
most significant elements of the decrease in expense were as follows:
(a)

(b)

2

Decrease of CHF 3.7 million (6.3%) in salaries and employee benefits expense
resulting primarily from a number of factors: i) the provision for a potential
judgement related to the Post Adjustment case was reversed in 2021 following the
judgement on behalf of the Organization (CHF 4.9 million less expenditure), ii) the
curtailment gain on employee benefit liabilities related to the Secretariat
reorganization that occurred in 2020 that was not required in 2021 (CHF 4.1 million
increase in staff cost), iii) net reduction in other staff costs resulting from the
Secretariat reorganization related to separation and termination costs incurred in
2020 and overall lower levels of staff during 2021 due to delays in hiring of new
staff members (CHF 3.8 million). Note 6 of the Financial Statements provides
additional information;
Decrease of CHF 1.6 million (17.6%) in meetings and projects expense and CHF 0.3
million (51.1%) in travel expense driven by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The COVID-19 pandemic reduced the number of physical meetings and related
travel costs, as well as the ability of the Secretariat and implementing partners to

Given the low level of expenditure, the percentage change is not meaningful and, as such, is not
presented
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(c)

fully implement the activities as planned. Alternate means of delivering activities
were identified (e.g. virtual meetings) and some activities were deferred to future
periods;
Increase in finance costs of CHF 1.5 million (112.3%) related primarily to an increase
in the level of assessed contributions for Members in arrears beyond two years, for
which a provision for delays in contributions was recorded.
Chart 2 – Comparative Expense by Category
Depreciation
and
amortization All other
6%
Supplies,
5%
consumable
and running
costs
7%

2020

Travel
1%
Meeting and
projects
11%

Salaries and
employee
benefits
70%

17. Chart 2 above shows the composition of expense for 2021 and 2020 by the category of
expense. As can be seen from the chart, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to impact the
percentage of expense by category due to the reduction in travel and meeting, fellowships,
and projects related expenditures.
18. The annual net surplus for 2021 was CHF 13.8 million as compared to a net surplus of
CHF 3.5 million in 2020. The annual net surplus by fund group was as follows:
(a)
(b)
(c)

The General Fund recognized an annual net surplus in 2021 of CHF 11.0 million
compared to an annual net surplus in 2020 of CHF 9.6 million;
The Regular Programme Support Funds experienced an annual net surplus in 2021
of CHF 1.1 million, which is an improvement as compared with the net deficit of
CHF 0.9 million in 2020;
The Development, Technical Assistance and Technical Cooperation Funds
experienced an annual net surplus in 2021 of CHF 1.7 million as compared to
annual net deficit of CHF 5.2 million in 2020. The annual net deficit in 2020 in this
fund group was driven primarily by unrealized foreign exchange rate losses on
outstanding advances for project implementation and non-CHF currency holdings.
Additionally, refunds of contributions increased during 2020, primarily related to
the finalization of a long-term extrabudgetary project that was completed without
all of the funds being required for implementation.
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Financial Position
Table 4 – Summary of Financial Position (Swiss Franc thousands)

Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

2021
163,762
73,311
237,073

2020
148,522
76,625
225,147

Difference
15,240
(3,314)
11,926

Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

81,153
134,095
215,248

78,796
152,109
230,905

2,357
(18,014)
(15,657)

21,825

(5,758)

27,583

Net Assets (Deficit) /
Equity

Change (%)
10.3
(4.3)
5.3
3.0
(11.8)
(6.8)

19. The financial position of WMO as at 31 December 2021 is disclosed in Statement I –
Statement of Financial Position and is summarized in Table 4 above. In 2021, the net assets
of the Organization increased by CHF 27.8 million moved to a net asset position. The increased
net asset position resulted mainly from:
(a)
(b)

(c)

Decreases in employee benefit liabilities resulting from an increase in the reference
interest rates and other financial assumptions utilized in the calculation of these
long-term liabilities (CHF 11.3 million);
Decreases in deferred revenue relating to outstanding voluntary contributions
where the implementation has not yet been completed at the end of 2021 and
would be implemented and recognized as revenue in 2022 or future years
(CHF 12.1 million); and
Decreases in provisions related to the Geneva post-adjustment case which was
decided in favour of WMO (CHF 3.3 million).

20. Cash holdings increased by CHF 12.3 million from CHF 110.8 million at 31 December
2020 to CHF 123.1 million at 31 December 2021. The Segment Reporting in Note 8.1 shows
that the cash holding for the General Fund Group amounted to CHF 74.8 million (2020:
CHF 58.3 million) which includes cash of CHF 29.0 million (2020: 12.9 million) held in trust for
the unconsolidated entities and joint ventures and associates administered by WMO, giving net
cash holding for the General Fund as at 31 December 2021 of CHF 45.8 million (2020:
CHF 35.4 million. Of this CHF 45.8 million, CHF 25.8 million relates to the General Fund while
the remaining amounts are held in the Working Capital Fund (CHF 6.6 million) and in certain
special accounts (CHF 13.4 million).
21. Trust funds had strong cash balances due to the budgetary policy in respect to voluntary
funded projects. Expenditure cannot commence until respective pledged contributions have
been received. Cash balances relating to voluntary funded contributions decreased by
CHF 4.2 million from CHF 52.5 million at the end of 2020 to CHF 48.3 million at 31 December
2021, primarily due to lower levels of voluntary contributions as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic.
22. The Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021 shows that contributions
receivable increased by CHF 1.6 million (4.4%) from CHF 37.6 million at 31 December 2020 to
CHF 39.3 million at 31 December 2021. The increase represents an increase of CHF 3.7 million
in net assessed contributions receivable and a decrease of CHF 2.1 million in net voluntary
contributions receivable.
23. Of the CHF 39.3 million in outstanding contributions receivable at 31 December 2021,
CHF 20.3 million relates to assessed contributions receivable. This amount represents
approximately 30% of the annual regular budget of WMO. The attention of the Members of
WMO to timely payment of assessed contributions is crucial to the operational efficiency of the
Organization.
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24. All of the amounts recorded as contributions receivable, revenues and or deferred
revenues may not ultimately be received. For this reason, WMO recognizes adequate and
appropriate provisions for doubtful accounts and provision for refunds to donor 3 in accordance
with IPSAS.
25. WMO liabilities for employee benefits totalled CHF 84.7 million at 31 December 2021, a
decrease of CHF 11.3 million (11.8%) from CHF 96.0 million at 31 December 2020. The
majority of the employee benefit liabilities are calculated by professional actuaries. The
decrease in the liability was primarily driven by the actuarial gains resulting from an increase
in the discount rate and other financial assumptions utilized in the valuation during 2021.
26. The employee benefits liabilities are not funded. Further information on employee
benefits is provided in Note 3.9.
27. Deferred revenue represents voluntary contributions received by WMO that include
conditions related to the specific performance of services that, if unmet, would result in the
return of funds to the donor. Deferred revenue totalled CHF 55.7 million at 31 December
2021, which represented a CHF 7.1 million (11.3%) decrease from the balance of CHF 62.8
million at 31 December 2020. The decrease resulted from declines in new contributions to
WMO, most of which contain conditions, that become revenue in future years.
28. During the year, it was identified that the useful life of the WMO Headquarters Building
needed to be adjusted to reflect the fact that the surface rights for the land upon which the
WMO Headquarters Building sits (“droits de superficie”) expire prior to the actual useful life of
certain components of the building. As such, the balance of Property Plant and Equipment and
Accumulated Surplus and Depreciation Expense for 2020 have been restated. Further
information is contained in Note 3.6 of the Financial Statements.
Net Assets/Equity
29. The changes in net assets and equity are disclosed in Financial Statement III –
Statement of changes in Net Assets/Equity. The movement in net assets during the year is
summarized in Table 5 below.
Table 5: Movement in Net Assets (Swiss Francs thousands)
Net Assets at 1 January
Surplus/(Deficit) during year
Contribution to the Working Capital Fund
Actuarial gain/(loss) during year
Other changes during year
Net Assets / (Deficit) at 31 December

2021
(5,758)
13,880
13,536
167
21,825

2020
(3,118)
3,549
(6,428)
239
(5,758)

30. The Organization’s total current assets of CHF 163.8 million represent 201% of its total
current liabilities of CHF 81.2 million (see Statement I) at 31 December 2021, which
demonstrates the Organization’s ability to meet its short-term liquidity needs.
31. The Net Assets/Equity position of the General Fund is in a net asset position at
31 December 2021 of CHF 3.1
32.
million as compared to a net deficit position at 31 December 2020 of CHF 21.7 million.
This net asset position is primarily the result of the reduced level of unfunded employee
benefit liabilities and lower levels of expense during 2021.

3

Provision for delayed collection of assessed contributions from Members is shown in Note 4.2.
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Working Capital
33. In Resolution 42 (Cg-XV), Congress fixed the principal of the Working Capital Fund at
CHF 7.5 million. The balance of the fund was CHF 6.6 million at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
The shortfall is being funded from interest earned on short-term investments of the capital.
During 2021 and 2020, the Fund earned less than CHF 5,000 of interest per year. Unpaid
advances to this Fund due from Members amounted to CHF 601 at 31 December 2021 and
2020.
Cash Flow
34. The cash flow is disclosed in Statement IV – Statement of Cash Flow. Overall, the cash
balance held to support WMO requirements increased by CHF 12.4 million (11.2%) to CHF
123.1 million at 31 December 2021 from CHF 110.8 million at 31 December 2020. The
Statement of Cash Flow summarizes the cash inflows and outflows during the year.
Budgetary Analysis
35. The budget figures for the General Fund are disclosed in Statement V – Statement of
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts for the year ended 31 December 2021.
36. The 2021 annual budget has been prepared on the modified cash basis. Under the
modified cash basis, the expenditures as shown in Statement V by Appropriation Parts, are
recognized when purchase orders/contracts are issued to suppliers/contractors. Expenditure in
Statement II – Statement of Financial Performance – is recognized in accordance with IPSAS in
the year in which the goods or services are received. The Statement V contains a reconciliation
between the approved budget for 2021 and the net surplus/deficit for the Organization as
shown in Statements II.
37. Statement V shows that WMO General Fund expenditure amounted to CHF 62.7 million in
2021, or 91.9% of the budget of CHF 68.2 million. The implementation rates by Expected
Result varied from 66.1% for Long-term Goal 5 to 99.6% for Appropriation Part III (Long-Term
Goal 3). Table 6 shows the composition of total budget and expenditure by Long-term
Goal/Appropriation Part during 2021.
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Table 6: Budget and Expenditure by Appropriation Part for 2021
FOR THE TWELVE MONTHS ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

Appropriation Parts

Budgeted
Amount
Orginal

Expenditure
Amounts* on
Comparable
Basis

% of Budget
Spent

Differences:
Budget and
Expenditure

1

Part I. LTG 1. Better serve societal needs

16,192.7

15,103.6

93.3%

1,089.1

2

Part II. LTG 2. Enhance Earth system observations and predictions

11,916.0

10,241.9

86.0%

1,674.1

3

Part III. LTG 3. Advance targeted research

6,449.8

6,422.1

99.6%

27.7

4

Part IV. LTG 4. Close the capacity gap

13,528.3

12,341.7

91.2%

1,186.6

5

Part V. LTG 5 Strategic realignment of WMO structure and
programmes

775.8

512.7

66.1%

263.1

6

Part VI. Policy-Making Organs, Executive Management and Oversight

9,238.2

8,999.6

97.4%

238.6

7

Part VII. Language Services

10,078.4

9,033.1

89.6%

1,045.3

68,179.2

62,654.7

91.9%

5,524.5

Total

Explanations of variances between the 2021 approved budget and the actual
expenditure in 2021 by Appropriation Parts
38. The execution of the 2021 budget was largely impacted by two elements: the delayed
hiring of staff members to fill critical technical positions, which occurred primarily in the second
half of 2021 and the exceptional global situation of the COVID-19 pandemic that imposed
significant travel restrictions throughout the majority of 2021. This situation required WMO to
cancel, postpone or adopt a teleconference approach to continue with the implementation of
the OP. The programmatic areas of the Organization were significantly impacted by the
change in the operating environment resulting in a number of activities being delayed or
deferred and reducing the budgetary implementation rate. On the other hand, many of the
activities in the programmatic areas were implemented through alternate modalities, such as
virtual meetings and other lower cost means of implementation. The experiences gained
through these lower cost means of implementation are expected to be continued under nonpandemic conditions, which will allow for continued reallocation of the resources to other cost
area to continue the implementation and achievement of the WMO Strategic Plan.
39. This was also true for the Part VI of the budget (Policy-Making Organs and Executive
Management), which adapted to the changed operating environment and organized the core
WMO policy-meetings through videoconference. In Part VII (Language Services), the
economies resulted from a changed demand of linguistic and conferences services as a result
of the change in modality of many meetings as well as from the realization of savings from
several vacant positions. The administrative costs were apportioned based on the percentage
of the approved budget and positively impacted the rate of implementation of each budget
component. The expenditures in the apportioned costs in excess of the amounts originally
foreseen in the budget resulted mainly from additional investment in critical infrastructure
needs in the WMO Headquarters Building in accordance with EC-73 decisions.
40.

Budget variances by Appropriation Part are described below:

41. Part I, Long-term Goal 1: The 93.3% implementation rate is mainly explained by the
continued implementation of core activities while recognizing the constraints experienced in
2021, including (i) a reduction in the number of physical meetings and reduced travel in 2021,
due to the COVID-19 pandemic situation, which resulted in a transition to video conferences as
an alternative to face-to-face meetings, (ii) a reduction of the capacity to maintain the same
level of contractual services in view of the overall slowdown in implementation and (iii) delays

p. 18
in filling vacancies and (iv) the reduction of staff costs due to the impact of the pay cut in line
with the decision of the United Nations Dispute Tribunal (UNDT), (v) symposiums which were
supposed to be held between WMO and partners did not materialize as well as limited
Secretariat participation at COP-26 due to COVID. All the above is compensated by an increase
in the consultancy services for specialized services, a high level of financial contribution to
financed external activities and the impact of the apportioned costs by Long-Term Goals.
42. Part II, Long-term Goal 2: The 86.0% implementation rate is mainly explained by the
continued implementation of core activities while recognizing the constraints experienced in
2021, including: (i) a reduction in the number of physical meetings and reduced travel in
2021, due to the COVID-19 pandemic situation, which resulted in a transition to video
conferences as an alternative to face-to-face meetings and the shifting of major constituent
body meetings to online means, and (ii) significant savings in the staff area resulting from the
delays in filling vacancies and pay-cut impact. Those economies are offset by the impact of the
apportionment cost by Long-Term Goals.
43. Part III, Long-term Goal 3: The 99.6% implementation rate reflects the continued
implementation of most planned activities and a major effort to adapt the delivery modalities
in the new reality. The significative reduction in the number of physical meetings and travel in
2021, due to the COVID-19 pandemic situation, as well as economies realized due to
teleconferences alternatives is compensated by an increase in financial contributions and
maintaining sustained level of expenditures in other programmatic areas and object of
expenditures. The impact of the apportioned costs also contributed to the current level of
implementation.
44. Part IV, Long-term Goal 4: The 91.2% implementation rate reflects the continued
implementation of most planned activities and is a consequence of reduction in the non-staff
costs while the staff costs were implemented as planned despite the pay-cut impact. The
reduced implementation rate experienced in LTG4 affected all the objects of expenditure,
having a significant impact on the ability to organize face-to-face regional meetings / missions
and fully expand the fellowship programme as was foreseen in the budget. These reductions
are directly attributable to the global impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the consultancy
activities and operating expenses were implemented as planned, other areas such as the
activities implemented by Implementing Partners were somewhat constrained during this
period.
45. Part V, Long-term Goal 5: The rate of implementation of 66.1% is result of (i) the
limitation in travelling and development coordination activities imposed by the COVID-19
situation and (ii) the shift of staff costs resources to Part VI.
46. Part VI: The 97.4% of implementation rate is explained by the replacement of the travel
component (face-to-face meeting) during the COVID situation by teleconference with
additional related costs in order to organize the core policy-making organs’ meetings and
activities, this introduced significant volume of savings. Other areas as consultancy services
were developed during this period to contribute to specialized activities. Staff costs were
implemented as planned despite the pay-cut impact and minor net increase due to the effect
of the reorganization, and shifted staff resources from Part V.
47. Part VII: The 89.6% implementation rate of the linguistic and conference services is due
to an efficient strategy to encompass the operating modalities of the linguistic and conferences
resources to the overall organizational strategy as result of the impact of COVID-19. Additional
savings in the staff costs due to unfilled vacancies are absorbed by the apportionment of
administrative cost.
48. Total apportionable costs for 2021 were budgeted at CHF 13.0 million. Total actual
apportionable costs in 2021 were CHF 13.8 million. The apportionable costs for 2021 total
administration-related expenditures CHF 9.9 million, which was an underspend of CHF 0.4
million as compared to the amounts included in the approved budget. The underspend resulted
from savings achieved in the staff cost due to the reorganization process and the impact of
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decision on the pay cut, compensated by some increase in the non-staff costs across the
administrative services. Operating expenses of IT and Building services in 2021 amounted to
CHF 3.9 million, which represented an over-expenditure of CHF 1.2 million as compared to the
amounts included in the approved budget. Such overspend was mainly related to the sustained
costs of IT services and an increase in the building services due to the externalization of some
services balanced by staff cost savings. In addition, there were apportionable administrative
costs of CHF 4.5 million in 2021 for the implementation of WMO critical projects in line with the
decision of EC-73, which was unbudgeted in the original 2021 budget and was financed from
carry-over funds from 2020 as per EC-73 decision.
49. As 2021 is the second year of the 2020–2021 biennium, this report also presents the status
of the approved budget for the full biennium 2020–2021, including the expenditures incurred
against that budget. The amounts are presented in Table 7 below.
Table 7:

Budget and Expenditure by Appropriation Part for the Biennium 2020–
2021
FOR THE BIENNIUM ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

Appropriation Parts

Approved
Budget
Original

Expenditure
Amounts* on
Comparable
Basis

% of Budget
Spent

Differences:
Budget and
Expenditure

1

Part I. LTG 1. Better serve societal needs

31,868.3

28,030.2

88.0%

3,838.1

2

Part II. LTG 2. Enhance Earth system observations and predictions

23,862.9

20,583.2

86.3%

3,279.7

3

Part III. LTG 3. Advance targeted research

12,969.2

12,399.0

95.6%

570.2

4

Part IV. LTG 4. Close the capacity gap

26,847.3

23,779.9

88.6%

3,067.4

5

Part V. LTG 5 Strategic realignment of WMO structure and
programmes

1,536.2

1,069.1

69.6%

467.1

6

Part VI. Policy-Making Organs, Executive Management and Oversight

18,510.8

17,715.8

95.7%

795.0

7

Part VII. Language Services

20,177.5

19,082.5

94.6%

1,095.0

135,772.2

122,659.7

90.3%

13,112.5

Total
* Including actuals and obligations prepared on budget basis

Explanations of variance between the approved budget and the actual expenditure
for the biennium 2020–2021 by Appropriation Parts
50. For the biennium 2020–2021, there was a total underspend of CHF 13.1 million, which
was comprised of the cumulative underspend of CHF 5.5 million from 2021 and CHF 7.6 million
from 2020. The underspend from 2021 is described in the paragraphs above. The underspend
in 2020 as explained in the 2020 report, was primarily the result of two factors: (i) the delay,
during the second and third quarters 2020, in the payment of assessed contributions by
Members that required the Secretariat to reduce implementation of activities due to concerns
regarding the liquidity of the regular budget and (ii) the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
that had significant implications on travel, fellowships and in-person meetings.
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Enhancing Transparency and Accountability
51. WMO continues to prepare the financial statements in accordance with IPSAS. In
accordance with IPSAS requirements, and reflecting the nature of WMO business, revenue
from assessed contributions, voluntary contributions received as well as pledges of voluntary
contributions confirmed in writing are recognized as revenue or deferred revenue. In
accordance with the accrual basis of accounting, expense recognition occurs at the time of
delivery of goods or services by the supplier or service provider and are recorded in the
accounting records and recognized in the financial statements of the year to which they relate.
By adopting and implementing IPSAS, including continuous monitoring and implementation of
relevant changes, WMO enhanced its ability to produce relevant and useful financial
information, thereby improving the transparency and accountability with which it manages its
resources.
52. Continued compliance with IPSAS remains a priority as the scope of IPSAS is constantly
updated to reflect best practice.
53. During 2021, WMO implemented and maintained a number of measures to enhance
transparency and accountability described below:
•
•

•
•

Quarterly financial reports were prepared and provided to Members, showing the
status of contributions and progress on the financial implementation of the regular
budget. These reports were concurrently provided to AOC.
On a regular basis and during meetings of the Management chaired by the
Secretary-General, financial and budget matters were considered and senior
management received financial, budgetary and other briefings on resource
management, with a focus on risk management.
The Investment Committee met to review the Organization’s cash situation, based
on which appropriate treasury decisions were made.
Online budget and finance information by departments/offices and Appropriation
Part was provided through the WMO portal to managers and staff.

54. WMO framework of oversight includes (IOO), dealing with internal audit, inspections and
investigations; the WMO AOC and the External Auditor. The Secretary-General issues a
Statement on Internal Control in the context of the presentation of the annual financial
statements. Internal controls are designed to maximize the effective and efficient use of
resources and to safeguard its assets.
Risk Management
55. WMO manages risk proactively. A standardized risk management methodology has been
operationalized at three levels: entity, programmatic and processes. Risks are accordingly
evaluated on their potential impact and likelihood for WMO. An organizational risk and control
matrix and an interactive dashboard have been developed to identify top risks affecting the
Organization’s strategy and mandate. At the programmatic and processes level, risk and
control matrices are maintained and have been fully integrated into the corporate planning,
monitoring and reporting processes. Their function is to allow WMO to identify risks, formulate
appropriate mitigation actions, and assign responsibility for their management.
56. WMO activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. Financial risk management is
carried out by a central treasury function using guidelines set out by the Investment
Committee. WMO financial risk management policies seek to minimize, where feasible,
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of WMO. Established policies cover areas
of risk such as foreign exchange, interest rate and the investing of funds. The objectives of the
investment policy are the preservation of capital, provide liquidity and to increase income
through rates of return. The major emphasis of this policy is the preservation of the value of
cash resources.
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57. WMO treasury policy on liquidity ensures the maintenance of sufficient cash to meet
WMO commitments as and when they fall due. As at 31 December 2021 the majority of the
cash balances were available within one day’s notice to provide maximum liquidity and enable
WMO to react quickly to any signs of a financial crisis.
58. WMO credit risk is minimized by ensuring that cash is placed with major financial
institutions that have been accorded acceptable investment grade ratings by a primary rating
agency. Contributions receivable comprise primarily amounts due from sovereign nations.
WMO market risk is low since the implementation of WMO plan and budget is not dependent
on or impacted by interest earnings. Although currency risks exist and are increasing due to
the increased amount of voluntary contributions in currencies other than the Swiss Franc,
these risks are mitigated through implementation of the foreign currency management policy.
Balances are received and held primarily in Swiss Francs which is the predominant currency of
payment and the official currency of WMO. Further information is provided in Note 4 to the
Financial Statements.
Going Concern Basis of Reporting
59. The Organization will continue to report on the “going concern” basis while preparing the
WMO financial statements for 2021. This assertion is supported by: (i) the increase in
approved maximum expenditures for 2020-2023; (ii) the net assets held at the end of the
period and contributions received in 2020; (iii) the projected level of contributions for the year
2021, including those received through the date of this report; and (iv) the trend in Member
and donor support that has been sustaining WMO mandate since its inception in 1950.
Responsibility
60. As required under Article 14 of the Financial Regulations, I am pleased to submit the
following financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with IPSAS. I certify,
that to the best of my knowledge and information, all transactions during the year have been
properly entered in the accounting records and that these transactions together with the
following financial statements and notes, details of which form part of this document, fairly
present the financial position of WMO at 31 December 2021:
Statement
Statement
Statement
Statement

I
II
III
IV

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2021
Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Cash Flow for the Year Ended 31 December 2021
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts for the Year
Statement V
Ended 31 December 2021
Notes to the Financial Statements

(Prof. Petteri Taalas)
Secretary-General
19 April 2022
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STATEMENT I
WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)
Note
No.

2021

2020
(Restated)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash,cash equivalents and investments
Assessed contributions receivable
Voluntary contributions receivable
Inventories
Advances for projects and meetings
Other receivables

Non-current assets
Assessed contributions receivable
Voluntary contributions receivable
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Interest in joint ventures and associates

3.1
3.2
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5

3.2
3.2
3.6
3.7
3.16

Total assets

123,132
20,206
8,643
35
9,261
2,485

110,756
16,346
10,601
77
8,095
2,647

163,762

148,522

64
10,371
60,987
266
1,623

227
10,468
64,537
337
1,056

73,311

76,625

237,073

225,147

4,066
5,376
10,192
651
28,502
1,442
1,910
29,014

2,556
5,083
9,486
1,607
29,922
1,442
5,585
23,115

81,153

78,796

79,300
27,235
27,560

90,913
32,882
28,314

134,095

152,109

215,248

230,905

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and accruals
Employee benefits
Contributions received in advance
Unearned revenue from exchange transactions
Deferred revenue
Borrowings
Provisions
Funds held in trust
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits
Deferred revenue
Borrowings

3.8
3.9
3.10
3.11
3.12
3.13
3.14
3.15

3.9
3.12
3.13

Total liabilities
Net assets

21,825

(5,758)

NET ASSETS/EQUITY
Capital fund
Accumulated surplus / (deficit)
Employee benefits reserves

Stat.III
Stat.III
3.17

7,024
16,237
(1,436)
21,825

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

7,024
2,357
(15,139)
(5,758)

p. 27

STATEMENT II
WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)

Revenue
Assessed contributions (Non-exchange)
Voluntary contributions (Non-exchange)
Revenue from Services
Other revenue
In-kind contributions (services) (Non-exchange)
Total Revenue
Expenses
Salaries and employee benefits
Meetings and projects
Travel
Supplies, consumables and other running costs
Depreciation and amortization
In-kind expenditure (services)
Finance costs
Fellowships
Other expenditures
Movement in share of Net Assets/Equity of joint ventures
and associates
Interest in joint ventures and associates
Total Expenses
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

Note
No.

2021

2020
(Restated)

5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4
5.5

67,886
18,879
1,885
2,861
1,870
93,381

67,886
18,213
1,919
(2,315)
1,870
87,573

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
3.6/3.7
6.5
6.6
6.7
6.8

54,833
7,454
308
6,140
4,306
1,870
2,806
829
1,522

58,515
9,048
630
6,473
4,211
1,870
1,322
899
1,084

3.16
3.16

37
(604)
79,501
13,880

111
(139)
84,024
3,549

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS/EQUITY

STATEMENT III

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)

Net assets at 31 December 2020
Movements in fund balances and reserves in 2021:
Contribution to the Working Capital Fund
Payments against reserves
Payroll charge for employee benefits reserve
Gain (loss) arising from actuarial valuation of liability for
employee benefits at 31 December 2021
Surplus (deficit) for the year
Total movements during the year
Net assets 31 December 2021

Capital
Fund
7,024

Accumulated
surplus
2,357

Employee
benefits
reserve
(Note 3.17)
(15,139)

Total net
assets
(5,758)
(3,082)
3,249

-

-

(3,082)
3,249

7,024

13,880
13,880
16,237

13,536
13,703
(1,436)

13,536
13,880
27,583
21,825

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS/EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)

Net assets at 31 December 2020
Movements in fund balances and reserves in 2020:
Contribution to the Working Capital Fund
Payments against reserves
Payroll charge for employee benefits reserve
Gain (loss) arising from actuarial valuation of liability for
employee benefits at 31 December 2020
Surplus (deficit) for the year
Total movements during the year
Net assets 31 December 2020

Capital
Fund
7,024

Accumulated
surplus
(Restated)
(1,192)

Employee
benefits
reserve
(Note 3.17)
(8,950)

Total net
assets
(Restated)
(3,118)

-

-

(3,027)
3,266

(3,027)
3,266

7,024

3,549
3,549
2,357

(6,428)
(6,189)
(15,139)

(6,428)
3,549
(2,640)
(5,758)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION

STATEMENT IV

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)
2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Surplus/ (deficit) for the year
Amortization of discount on long-term loan
Change in discount on receivables
Depreciation and amortization
Interest and service charge for employee benefits
Net movement in employee benefits reserve
Increase (decrease) in provision for doubtful receivables
Interest in joint ventures
(Increase) decrease in inventories
(Increase) decrease in gross short-term contributions receivable
(Increase) decrease in gross long-term contributions receivable
(Increase) decrease in advances for projects and meetings
(Increase) decrease in other receivables
Increase (decrease) in contributions received in advance
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue from exchange transactions
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in funds held in trust
Increase (decrease) in payables and accruals
Increase (decrease) in provisions
Increase (decrease) in employee benefits liabilities
Net cash flows from operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
(Increase) decrease in short-term investments
Net cash flows from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Contribution to Working Capital Fund by new Members
Increase (decrease) in undiscounted long-term borrowing
Net cash flows from financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2020
(Restated)

13,880
723
111
4,306
4,181
167
1,830
(567)
42
(3,791)
149
(1,166)
222
706
(956)
(7,067)
5,899
1,509
(3,675)
(1,965)
14,539

3,549
741
(91)
4,211
4,208
239
616
(28)
2
13,800
4,350
312
86
286
(1,254)
(4,702)
8,253
(1,830)
2,834
(6,181)
29,401

(686)
(686)

(533)
(52)
(585)

(1,477)
(1,477)
12,376
110,756
123,132

(1,477)
(1,477)
27,339
83,417
110,756

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT V

WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION

STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousand of Swiss Francs)

Budgeted Amounts

Revenue
Initial Budget
Assessed contributions
Interest / miscellaneous income
Total Revenue

67,886
65
67,951

Budget
Transfers

Final Budget

Long-term Goal 1
Long-term Goal 2
Long-term Goal 3
Long-term Goal 4
Long-term Goal 5
Part VI
Part VII
Total Expenses
Net Result

Initial Budget

-

16,193
11,916
6,450
13,528
776
9,238
10,078
68,179

Budget
Transfers

Difference
between final
budget and actual
amounts

67,886
362
68,248

297
297

67,886
65
67,951

Budgeted Amounts
Expenses

Actual amounts
on a comparable
basis

Final Budget

-

Actual amounts
on a comparable
basis

16,193
11,916
6,450
13,528
776
9,238
10,078
68,179

15,104
10,242
6,422
12,342
513
9,000
9,033
62,655
5,593

Basis Differences
Depreciation and amortization
Employee beneifts: interest and current service cost less benefits paid
Loss on discounting long-term liabiliteis
Provisions
Loan Repayment
Net In-Kind Revenue and Expenses
Other IPSAS differences
Total IPSAS differences
Surplus on other funds in the General Fund Group (See Note 7)
Surplus on Extrabudgetary Fund Groups (see Note 8.2)
Surplus as shown in Statement II - Statement of Financial Performance

7,280
(4,167)
(2,216)
(723)
1,085
1,477
3
2,739
2,717
2,831
13,880

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements

Difference
between final
budget and actual
amounts
(1,089)
(1,674)
(28)
(1,187)
(263)
(239)
(1,045)
(5,525)
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Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2021

NOTE 1: PURPOSES OF THE ORGANIZATION

(a)

To facilitate worldwide cooperation in the establishment of networks of stations for the
making of meteorological observations as well as hydrological and other geophysical
observations related to meteorology, and to promote the establishment and maintenance
of centres charged with the provision of meteorological and related services;

(b)

To promote the establishment and maintenance of systems for the rapid exchange of
meteorological and related information;

(c)

To promote standardization of meteorological and related observations and to ensure the
uniform publication of observations and statistics;

(d)

To further the application of meteorology to aviation, shipping, water problems,
agriculture and other human activities;

(e)

To promote activities in operational hydrology and to further close cooperation between
Meteorological and Hydrological Services;

(f)

To encourage research and training in meteorology and, as appropriate, in related fields
and to assist in coordinating the international aspects of such research and training.
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NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Preparation
1.
The financial statements of the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) have been
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSAS) using the historic cost convention and the inclusion of long-term
receivables and long-term borrowings at amortized cost.
2.
As of 31 December 2021, the date of the Statement of Financial Position, the following
IPSAS Standards had been issued, but had not taken effect:
•
•

IPSAS 41 – Financial instruments and
IPSAS 42 – Social benefits

IPSAS 41 and IPSAS 42 will come into force in periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
The potential effects of these standards are being evaluated.
3.
In accordance with IPSAS requirements, and reflecting the nature of WMO’s business,
revenue from assessed contributions and voluntary contributions received or confirmed in
writing are recognized as non-exchange transactions as per IPSAS 23 – Revenue from NonExchange Transactions. WMO considers that there are restrictions on the use of all
contributions, and that some of these restrictions meet the definition of a condition as
described under IPSAS 23. Certain revenue arrangements meet the definition of exchange
transactions under IPSAS 9 – Revenue from Exchange Transactions and are accounted for in
accordance with this standard.
4.
In accordance with the accrual basis of accounting, expense recognition occurs at the
time of delivery of goods or services by the supplier or service provider and are recorded in the
accounting records and recognized in the financial statements of the periods to which they
relate.
5.

The Statement of Cash Flow is prepared using the indirect method.

6.
The functional and reporting currency of WMO is the Swiss Franc (CHF). Transactions in
currencies other than CHF are translated into CHF at the prevailing United Nations Operational
Rates of Exchange (UNORE) at the time of transaction. Assets and liabilities in currencies other
than CHF are translated into CHF at the prevailing UNORE year-end closing rate. Resulting
gains or losses are accounted for in the Statement of Financial Performance.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments
7.
Cash and cash equivalents are held at nominal value and comprise cash on hand and
cash at banks.
8.

Interest revenue is recognized as it accrues.

Financial Instruments
9.
Financial instruments are recognized when WMO becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument until such time as when the rights to receive cash flows from those
assets have expired or have been transferred and WMO has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.
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10.
Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in active markets. Receivables comprise contributions receivable in cash and
other receivables. Receivables are stated at amortized cost.
11.
All non-derivative financial liabilities including borrowings are recognized initially at fair
value, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
Contributions and Receivables
12.
Assessed contributions are recognized as revenue on the first day of the year to which
they relate. Full provision is made against all unpaid contributions of Members who are
deprived of the right to vote at sessions of WMO’s constituent bodies.
13.
Revenue from non-exchange transactions, such as voluntary contributions, is recognized
as revenue at the time the agreement with the donor becomes binding unless the agreement
includes conditions related to specific performance and the return of unexpended balances is
the norm. Agreements containing such conditions require initial recognition of a liability and
deferral of revenue recognition until such time as the liability is discharged through
performance of the specific conditions included in the agreement.
14.
Revenue from exchange transactions is recognized as revenue by reference to the stage
of completion of the arrangement when such stage of completion can be reliably measured.
Where the stage of completion of an arrangement cannot be reliably measured, revenue is
recognized only to the extent of the expenses recognized that are recoverable.
15.
Receivables are valued at amortized cost less allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts and are discounted if cash flows are not expected within 12 months from the reporting
date and if the impact of discounting is material.
16.
In-kind contributions of services that directly support approved operations and activities,
which have budgetary impact and can be reliably measured, are recognized and valued at fair
value. These contributions include use of premises, utilities, transport and personnel. They are
treated as both revenue and expense in the Financial Statements.
17.
Donated Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) are valued at fair market value and
recognized as PPE and revenue, except heritage assets, which are not recognized.
Inventories
18.
WMO’s publications (which are distributed free of charge) and souvenirs on hand at the
end of the financial year are recorded as inventories. Publications are valued at lower of cost or
current replacement cost, and souvenirs at lower of cost or net realizable value.
19.

Publications and souvenirs are expensed when they are sold or distributed.

20.
Inventory is reviewed at the end of each financial year for obsolescence. Obsolete
publications are held at nil value until their disposal. Slow moving publications are considered
as impaired and are reduced by 50% to reflect expected replacement cost.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
21.
PPE with unit cost CHF 5,000 and above are capitalized and reported at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation on PPE is
recognized over each asset’s estimated useful life using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives for PPE classes are as follows:
Class
Communications and IT
equipment
Vehicles
Machinery and
equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Headquarters Building

Component

Useful life (in years)
3
5
5

Various components

8
5–69

22.
Impairment reviews for all PPE are undertaken on a regular basis; there was no
indication of impairment during 2021.
Intangible Assets
23.
Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and any
impairment losses.
24.
Publications titles are not considered to be intangible assets as they do not meet the
provisions of IPSAS 31 – ‘Intangible Assets’. Consequently, development costs for new titles are
expensed as they are incurred in accordance with IPSAS 12 – “Inventories”.
25.
Amortization is provided over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives for intangible asset classes are as follows:

Classes

Estimated useful life (years)

Software externally acquired
Software internally developed
Licenses and rights

3
6
3

Operating Leases
26.
Leases which are not categorized as finance leases, with the balance of risk and reward
remaining with lessor, are considered as operating leases.
27.
Expense incurred under an operating lease is charged on a straight-line basis over the
life of the lease.
Employee Benefits
28.

WMO recognizes the following categories of employee benefits:
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•
•
•
•

Short-term employee benefits due to be settled within twelve months after
the end of the accounting period in which employees render the related
service
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits

Employee benefits are recognized as expenses on an accrual basis. Similarly, terminal
payments to staff members, including repatriation grant, repatriation travel and removal on
repatriation are expensed on an accrual basis.
29.
Unrealized actuarial gains/losses are taken directly to reserves in the period in which
they occur.
30.
WMO is a member Organization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff Pension
Fund (UNJSPF), which was established by the United Nations General Assembly to provide
retirement, death, disability and related benefits to employees. The Pension Fund is a multiemployer defined benefit plan. As specified by Article 3(b) of the Regulations of the Fund,
membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other
international, intergovernmental organization which participates in the common system of
salaries, allowances and other conditions of service of the United Nations and the specialized
agencies.
31.
The plan exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the
current and former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result
that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets, and costs
to individual organizations participating in the plan. WMO and the UNJSPF, in line with the other
participating organizations in the Fund, are not able to identify WMO’s proportionate share of
the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets and the costs associated with the plan with
sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence WMO has treated this plan as if it were a
defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 39. WMO’s contributions to the
plan during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the Statement of Financial
Performance.
Provisions and Contingent Liabilities
32.
Provisions are made for future liabilities and charges where WMO has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is probable that WMO will be required
to settle the obligation.
33.
Other commitments, which do not meet the recognition criteria for liabilities, are
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as contingent liabilities when their existence
will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events which are not wholly within the control of WMO.
Fund Accounting and Segment Reporting
34.
The financial statements are based on a fund accounting basis, showing at the end of
the period the consolidated position of all WMO funds. A fund is a self-balancing accounting
entity established to account for the transactions of a specified purpose or objective. Funds are
segregated for the purpose of conducting specific activities or attaining certain objectives. Fund
balances represent the accumulated residual of revenue and expenses.
35.
A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which financial
information is reported separately. WMO classifies all projects, operations and fund activities
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into five segments: (i) General Fund; (ii) Regular Programme Support Funds; (iii) Event Funds;
(iv) Development, Technical Assistance and Technical Cooperation Funds; and (v) National
Technical Support Funds. WMO reports on the transactions of each segment during the financial
period, and on the balances held at the end of the period.
36.
Under the General Fund, the Organization provides services to support Members and to
support the implementation of the Purposes of the Organization in Note 1. These activities are
funded by assessed contributions and miscellaneous income. The General Fund segment
includes: (a) the accounting entity established in accordance with WMO Financial Regulation 9.1
for the purpose of accounting for contributions and advances of Members and expenditures
authorized against them; (b) indirect support cost recoveries; (c) sales of publications and
souvenirs; (d) rental of office space, conference facilities and parking space; (e) miscellaneous
income; (f) the Working Capital Fund, which is established in accordance with Financial
Regulations 9.3 to 9.6; (g) contributions received which are not designated to a specific
programme category or project; and (h) the Recruitment and Termination Benefits Reserve and
the Post-Retirement Benefits Reserve.
37.
Regular Budget Support Funds encompass contributions from Members, usually National
Meteorological and Hydrological Services (NHMSs), which complement limited regular resources
to enable WMO to implement technical programmes, projects, awards and prizes. The provision
of funds is usually supported by a general letter of agreement or memorandum of
understanding between WMO and contributing Members, who are represented in the
governance bodies of such activities.
38.
Event Funds support specific events and activities. They represent one-time
contributions from various sources towards specific events, in Geneva or in Member countries.
The cooperation is based on exchanges of letters. Reporting is through acknowledgment letters
showing contributions toward the overall achievement of the events.
39.
Development, Technical Assistance, and Technical Cooperation Funds represent projects
for activities in countries or groups of countries. Contributions are from Members’ NHMSs ,
governments, and development agencies under specific agreements with elaborate project
plans. The projects require rigorous monitoring of financial and program implementation.
WMO’s obligations are defined and detailed with regard to management of, and reporting on,
resources provided and project achievements.
40.
National Technical Support Funds represent technical support activities which are
defined by contributing countries, in coordination with WMO. Contributions of Members are
used in accordance with the specific terms of the agreement establishing the fund, often in
support of modernization of domestic NMHSs, the foreign aid policies and to support WMOrelated activities of the contributing country. Funding may exceed the cost of activities
identified, in anticipation of future activities to be elaborated. Contributions may be provided on
a one-time basis or augmented periodically according to national budget processes and
considering spend rates and/or identified requirements. Funds may also be used to contribute
to activities under other segments (as may be agreed by the contributor).
41.
Inter-segment transfers include revenue and expense arising from transfers between
segments. Such transfers are accounted for at cost and eliminated on consolidation.
42.
Joint ventures are accounting entities established jointly by WMO and other international
public sector organizations in pursuit of objectives of mutual interest under arrangements that
specify each venture’s ownership interest. WMO accounts for its share of the ownership of each
joint venture’s net assets, as an asset if positive or liability if negative, based on WMO’s
proportion of the annual contributions made by all owner entities.
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Budget Comparison
43.
WMO’s budget is prepared on a commitment basis and the financial statements are
prepared on an accrual basis. In the Statement of Financial Performance (Statement II),
expenses are classified based on the nature of expenses whereas in the Statement of
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts (Statement V) expenditures are classified by the
Expected Result in which the expenditures have to be charged.
44.
The Executive Council approves the biennial budget which includes budgeted amounts
for direct costs, programme support costs and management and administration. Budgets may
be subsequently amended by the Executive Council.
45.
The Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts, Statement V, compares
the final budget to actual amounts for both revenue and expenditure, calculated on the same
basis as the corresponding budgetary amounts. Statement V also includes a reconciliation
between the net surplus / (deficit) of the regular budget on a budgetary basis for 2021 and the
annual net surplus / (deficit) for the whole of WMO as presented in the Statement of Financial
Performance, Statement II. A key element to the reconciliation relates to the net surplus /
(deficit) of funds outside the regular budget, detail of which can be found in Notes 7 and 8.2.
Critical Accounting Estimates
46.
Preparing financial statements in accordance with IPSAS requires WMO to make
estimates, judgements and assumptions in the selection and application of accounting policies
and in the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. For this reason,
actual results may differ from these estimates. Accounting estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis and revisions to estimates are recognized in the
year in which the estimates are revised and in any future year affected. Significant estimates
and assumptions that may result in material adjustments in future years include: actuarial
measurement of employee benefits; selection of useful lives and the depreciation/amortization
method for property, plant and equipment/intangible assets; impairment on assets; timing of
the recognition of deferred revenue; classification of financial instruments; and provisions,
contingent assets and liabilities. Changes in estimates are reflected in the year in which they
become known.
47.
Expense includes estimated expenditure by project implementing partners who were not
able to provide complete statements of expenditure in 2021 against advances made to them.
Where deferred income was released based on such estimated expenditure, income from
voluntary contributions was estimated to the same extent.
48.
In preparation of the 2021 financial statements, some minor adjustments with
immaterial effect were made to prior year comparative numbers in order to remove rounding
differences. Small rounding differences may occur due to the presentation of some amounts in
millions of Swiss Francs.
49.
The Organization's equity consists of accumulated surplus and reserves which form its
net assets. The equity is managed in accordance with the Financial Regulations adopted by the
World Meteorological Congress.
50.
Investment guidelines issued by the Secretary-General provide that primary
consideration be given to the security of the assets with due regard to maximizing revenue
earned from investments. Funds not needed for immediate cash flow requirements may be
invested in short-term deposits.
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NOTE 3: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Note 3.1: Cash and Cash Equivalents
2021
Unrestricted cash:
Cash on hand
Deposits with banks – Swiss Francs
Deposits with banks – other currencies

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
38
45,761
-

34
35,335
-

Total unrestricted cash

45,799

35,369

Restricted cash:
Deposits with banks – Swiss Francs
Deposits with banks – other currencies

47,413
29,920

43,286
32,101

Total restricted cash

77,333

75,387

Total cash and investments

123,132

110,756

51.
Restricted cash is for projects as well as funds held in trust for entities to which WMO
provides administrative support, but which are not under WMO’s control, as shown in Note 8.1.
52.
WMO Investment policy uses Moody’s Baseline Credit Assessment (BCA) to measure the
financial strength of banks. WMO has deposited funds in line with this policy with an aim to
avoid or minimize negative interest where possible. The WMO Investment Committee normally
meets once per quarter and monitors the investments of WMO to ensure they are in line with
WMO Investment Policy. The following table provides an analysis of cash balances by rating of
the financial institutions:
Baseline
Credit
Assessment
(BCA)

aaa

%

aa3a-

%

baa3baa

%

baba1

2021*

6,886

6

88,481

72

27,451

22

276

2020*

986

1

84,981

77

24,685

22

70

(* Amounts in thousands of Swiss Francs)

%

.

Cash
on
hand

Total

38

123,132

34

110,756
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53.
Cash required for immediate disbursement is maintained in cash and bank current
accounts. Balances held in deposit accounts are available at short notice. Cash and deposits are
held on behalf of the Organization, including General Fund; Regular Programme Support Funds;
Event Funds; Development, Technical Assistance and Technical Cooperation Funds; National
Technical Support Funds and non-WMO entities administered by WMO.
54.
Included within cash and cash equivalents are short-term deposits with original
maturities in excess of three months of CHF 38.5 million as at 31 December 2021 (CHF 39.6
million as at 31 December 2020). Short-term deposits are necessary due to the increased
overall cash balance at the end of 2021 to reduce exposure to negative interest rates on the
Swiss Franc.
Note 3.2: Contributions Receivable

2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Current receivables:
Assessed contributions with restrictions
Less: provision for delayed collection
Sub- total: current assessed contributions
Voluntary contributions with conditions
Voluntary contributions with restrictions
Contributions for services IPSAS 9
Less: provision for delayed collection
Sub-total: current voluntary contributions
Total current contributions receivable
Non-current receivables :
Assessed contributions with restrictions
Sub-total: non-current assessed contributions

30,698
(10,492)
20,206

24,948
(8,602)
16,346

7,989
461
193
8,643

10,431
170
10,601

28,849

26,947

64
64

227
227

10,482
-

10,348
147
-

(111)

(27)

10,371

10,468

Total non-current contributions receivable

10,435

10,695

Total net contributions receivable

39,284

37,642

Voluntary contributions with conditions
Voluntary contributions with restrictions
Less: provision for delayed collection
Less: discounting of cash flow not expected within 12
months
Sub-total: non-current voluntary contributions
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55.
Contributions receivable (net of provisions for delayed collection and discounting) show
an overall increase of CHF 1.6 million, resulting from an increase of CHF 3.7 million in unpaid
assessed contributions, net of the provision for delayed collections, from CHF 16.6 million at
31 December 2020 to CHF 20.3 million at 31 December 2021. Unpaid voluntary contributions
confirmed in writing decreased from CHF 21.1 million at 31 December 2020 to CHF 19.0 million
at 31 December 2021, a decrease of CHF 2.1 million.
56.
Total voluntary contributions receivable declined by approximately 10% from the end of
2020 to the end of 2021. This decline is due to the collection of multi-year voluntary
contributions during 2021 that were outstanding at the beginning of the year.
57.
Voluntary contributions with restrictions relate to funding which is received for specific
Trust Funds.
58.

The movement of the provision for delayed collection of contributions is as follows:

Assessed
contributions
Voluntary
contributions
Total

59.

Increased
(Decreased)
Swiss Francs (thousands)

2021

2020

Utilization

8,602

-

1,890

10,492

-

-

-

-

8,602

-

1,890

10,492

The age analysis of the unpaid assessments from Members is as follows:
Assessed contributions outstanding as at
31 December 2021
(1980–
2018)
Total

7,017

Swiss Francs (thousands)
2019

2020

2021

Total

1,297

2,622

19,826

30,762

Assessed contributions outstanding as at
31 December 2020

Total

Swiss Francs (thousands)

(1980–
2017)

2018

2019

2020

Total

6,292

1,408

3,163

14,312

25,175
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60.
Provisions are made against all unpaid contributions due from Members who were
deprived of their right to vote at sessions of WMO’s constituent bodies as of
31 December 2021. Any Member in arrears for more than two consecutive years is subject to
the provisions of Resolution 37 (Cg-XI), Suspension of Members for failure to meet financial
obligations. Members’ contributions are not written off, nor are the Members released from
their obligations.
61.
As at 31 December 2021, no additional provision was recognized related to the potential
for non-collection or delayed collection of assessed contributions resulting from additional
challenges Members face related to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Should individual
Members face difficulties in paying their assessed contributions in full and on time, overall
collections of assessed contributions could be delayed which would adversely impact WMO’s
ability to implement its planned activities.
62.
Similarly, no provision for non-collection or delayed collection has been identified with
respect to voluntary contributions receivable.
63.
Current contributions receivable are for confirmed contributions that are due within
twelve months while non-current contributions receivable are those that are due after 12
months from the date of the financial statements, and include agreements signed between
WMO and some Members concerning payment of arrears of their assessed contributions, in
accordance with Financial Regulation 8.8.
64.
All of the receivables from voluntary contributions at 31 December 2021, totalling
CHF 18.6 million, contain conditions requiring specific performance and the return of funds not
utilized in accordance with the agreement with the donor and are offset by a liability (deferred
revenue).
65.
There were contingent assets at 31 December 2021 in the amount of CHF 0.15 million
(2020: CHF 0.1 million). This represents agreements which had been entered into with donors
for contributions for future years but where the funding for that future year is still subject to
some parliamentary budget approval.

Note 3.3: Inventories
66.
The following tables show the movements of inventory items during the year. The first
table shows the total value of inventories – publications and souvenirs – as presented in the
Statement of Financial Position. The second table shows a reconciliation of inventories which
reflects the opening balance and the additions during the year reduced by the value of items
sold or distributed and write-offs/impairments made during the year.
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Inventories

2021

Publications
Souvenirs
Total

Swiss Francs (thousands)
1
8
34
69
35
77

Inventory Reconciliation

2021

Opening inventory
Purchases
Total Inventory available for sale or
distribution
Less: Sold or distributed
Less: Reduction in value due to age
Closing inventory

77
-

2020

2020
79
79

42
35

2
77

67.
For publications, valuation includes costs incurred up to the point of sale or distribution.
They include paper, CDs, editing and outsourcing where relevant.
68.
Inventory on hand up to and including 3 years is valued at the lower of cost or current
replacement cost for publications, and at lower of cost or net realizable value for souvenirs;
inventory on hand for 4 and 5 years is valued at 50% of cost; inventory on hand over 5 years is
fully provided for.
Note 3.4: Advances for projects and meetings
2021
Advances for projects
Advances for organization of meetings
Total advances for projects and
meetings

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
9,254
8,090
7

5

9,261

8,095
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69.
Advances for projects and meetings represent operating advances to projects and
support to institutions for the organization of WMO meetings held outside of Geneva, based on
Letters of Agreement in which the recipient organization commits, inter alia, to providing an
accounting for the advance within three months of the conclusion of the meeting. The advances
are recognized as expense at the point in time when either the accounting is received, or the
project is completed or the meeting is held. The increase in advances in projects is due to
primarily to the timing of implementation and reporting by Implementing Partners, some of
which has been delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as can be seen in Note
8.1 under Segment Reporting.
70.
It is expected that all advances to implementing partners will either be expended by the
implementing partner or returned as an unspent balance. Despite the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, no indicators have been identified that the advances may not be recoverable.
Depending upon the duration of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that
implementation of the underlying activities funded by these advances may be delayed.
Note 3.5: Other receivables
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Sundry debtors

331

375

Education grant advances

627

506

Refunds due on taxes

440

548

Prepaid expenses

468

351

Deposits with UNDP Headquarters

524

733

Other assets

315

317

2705

2,830

Less: Provision for delayed payment

(220)

(183)

Total other receivables

2,485

2,647

The movement of the provision for delayed payments during 2021 is as follows:
2020
Provision for
delayed payments

183

Increased
(Decreased)
Swiss Francs (thousands)

Utilization

-

37

2021

220
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71.
Sundry debtors are primarily related to amounts due from Members for costs of the
Organization’s constituent body sessions in excess of costs of the same sessions if they had
been held in Geneva. The majority of these amounts have been provided for.
72.
Employees of WMO are entitled to grants for the education of their eligible dependents.
Staff may request an advance at the beginning of the school year. The amount of the advance
which is accrued at the end of the year is based on the number of months of attendance
relative to the school year.
73.
Refunds due on taxes represent: (a) advances made to enable staff to pay income taxes
required by their home country governments; and (b) taxes withheld by governments from
interest earned on deposit accounts that are domiciled in their jurisdictions.
74.
Prepaid expenses include advance payments to providers of IT services,
telecommunications services, advance payments of stipends to fellows, etc.
75.
Deposits to UNDP Headquarters represent required advance payments to enable any
UNDP country offices to provide services requested by WMO, as well as costs incurred by WMO
in implementing UNDP projects. The services include arrangements for travel of participants
sponsored by WMO to WMO events, most of them international.
76.
Other assets include amounts recoverable from other United Nations System
Organizations under secondment arrangements, amounts receivable from Members under
agreements for hosting sessions of WMO constituent bodies.
77.
Provisions for write-offs were made for sundry debtors and claims for reimbursements of
government taxes to the extent that these amounts are unlikely to be recovered.
Note 3.6: Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
78. PPE are capitalized if their unit cost is equal to or greater than the threshold limit set at
CHF 5,000. They are depreciated over the asset’s estimated useful life using the straight-line
method. The threshold level is reviewed periodically.
79. Assets are reviewed annually to determine if there is any impairment in their value. The
reviews that were undertaken in 2021 did not result in any of the PPE being impaired in value.
A physical inventory of PP&E items was initiated in the fourth quarter of 2021. The physical
inventory is currently being analysed and will be finalized during the first half of 2022.
80. PPE includes the amounts related to the construction of the WMO Headquarters Building
in Geneva, Switzerland. The WMO Headquarters Building is owned by WMO and was
constructed during the late 1990s. The construction was funded by a combination of a loan
from the “Foundation des Immeubles pour les Organisations Internationales’’ (FIPOI) in the
original amount of CHF 75.8 million in combination with funds made available by the sale of
the prior WMO Headquarters Building (further details on the loan are described in Note 3.13).
The WMO Headquarters Building was originally recognized in the WMO financial statements in
2010, upon the adoption of IPSAS by WMO, with an original cost of approximately CHF 108.0
million. Additions and disposals to components of the WMO Headquarters Building since its
original recognition have resulted in the net cost of the WMO Headquarters Building being CHF
108.3 million at 31 December 2021.
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81.
The WMO Headquarters Building is situated on land owned by the Canton of Geneva.
FIPOI has surface rights to the land owned by the Canton of Geneva and WMO has secondary
surface rights to the land. Under the surface rights agreement (the “droits de superficie”) WMO
has rights to use the land until 31 December 2048, which WMO may extended for a further 20
years until 31 December 2068. Upon the cessation of the surface rights, the WMO
Headquarters Building ownership reverts to the Canton of Geneva, subject to the payment to
WMO of an amount to be calculated in accordance with the terms of the surface rights
agreement.
82.
The useful life used for calculating depreciation of the WMO Headquarters Building
should be the lower of the useful life of the relevant component of the WMO Headquarters
Building or the duration of the underlying surface rights agreement. For accounting purposes,
the end date of the surface rights agreement, including the possible extension of 20, years has
been utilized as the maximum duration of the depreciable life. As such, depreciation expense is
being calculated over the shorter of the useful life of the relevant component or until
31 December 2068.
83.
For financial statement periods through 31 December 2020, components of the WMO
Headquarters Building were being depreciated through 1 January 2098, irrespective of the
limitations put in place by the surface rights agreement. As such, in order to appropriately
reflect the useful lives of the relevant components of the WMO Headquarters Building, the 2020
financial statements have been restated to reflect the revised shorter useful life. The impact of
the restatement on the 2020 financial statement amounts is as follows:
Statement of
Financial Position Line
Item
Property, Plant and
Equipment
Accumulated Surplus

Statement of
Financial Performance
Line Item
Depreciation Expense

Originally Reported

Adjustment

Restated

65,417

(880)

64,537

3,237

(880)

2,357

Originally Reported

Adjustment

Restated

3,991

220

4,211
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84.
During 2021, improvements were made to the WMO Headquarters Building, including
additional equipment to improve the conference facilities.

Headquarters
Building

2021
Furniture and
Fixtures

Computer
Equipment

Machinery and
Equipment

Vehicles

Total

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Cost
Opening balance 01.01.2021
Additions

107,878

3,408

356

455

-

-

189

41

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals/Adjustment
Closing balance 31.12.2021

813

245

112,700
685
0

108,333

813

245

3,597

397

113,385

(43,710)

(813)

(245)

(3,082)

(313)

(48,163)

-

-

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 01.01.2021
Disposals/Adjustment
Depreciation charge for the year
Closing balance 31.12.2021

-

-

-

-

(4,131)

-

-

(86)

(18)

(4,235)

(47,841)

(813)

(245)

(3,168)

(331)

(52,398)

60,492

-

429

66

60,987

Net book value/ (closing
balance) 31.12.2021

Headquarters
Building

-

2020 (Restated)
Machinery and
Furniture and
Equipment
Fixtures

Computer
Equipment

Vehicles

Total

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Cost
Opening balance 01.01.2020
Additions

107,532

3,221

356

346

-

-

187

-

-

-

-

-

-

Disposals/Adjustment
Closing balance 31.12.2020

813

245

112,167
533
-

107,878

813

245

3,408

356

112,700

(39,651)

(813)

(245)

(3,023)

(286)

(44,018)

-

-

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 01.01.2020
Disposals/Adjustment
Depreciation charge for the year
Closing balance 31.12.2020

-

-

-

-

(4,059)

-

-

(59)

(27)

(4,145)

(43,710)

(813)

(245)

(3,082)

(313)

(48,163)

64,168

-

326

43

64,537

Net book value/ (closing
balance) 31.12.2020

-
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Note 3.7: Intangible Assets
2021
Licenses and
Rights

Software Internally
developed

Software Externally
acquired

Total Intangible
Assets

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Cost
100

505

1,775

2,380

Additions

-

-

-

-

Disposals

-

-

-

-

100

505

1,775

2,380

(2,043)

Opening balance 01.01.2021

Closing balance 31.12.2021
Accumulated Amortization

(100)

(168)

(1,775)

Disposals/adjustments

-

-

-

-

Amortization charge for the year

-

(71)

-

(71)

(100)

(239)

(1,775)

(2,114)

-

266

-

266

Opening balance 01.01.2021

Closing Balance 31.12.2021
Net book value/ (closing
Balance) 31.12.2021

2020
Licenses and
Rights

Software Externally
acquired

Software Internally
developed

Total Intangible
Assets

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Cost
100

453

1,775

2,328

Additions

-

52

-

52

Disposals

-

-

-

-

100

505

1,775

2,380

(1,977)

Opening balance 01.01.2020

Closing balance 31.12.2020
Accumulated Amortization
Opening balance 01.01.2020

(100)

(102)

(1,775)

Disposals/adjustments

-

-

-

-

Amortization charge for the year

-

(66)

-

(66)

(100)

(168)

(1,775)

(2,043)

-

337

-

337

Closing Balance 31.12.2020
Net book value/ (closing
Balance) 31.12.2020

85.
Intangible assets are capitalized if their cost exceeds the threshold of CHF 5,000 except
for internally developed software where the threshold is CHF 50,000. The capitalized value of
the internally developed software excludes those costs related to research and maintenance
costs.
86.
During 2020, the final elements of the Community Platform were capitalized as these
elements were placed into service during 2020. Total additions to the Community Platform
intangible asset during 2020 amounted to CHF 52,000. These additions, as well as the portion
of the Community Platform asset that was classified as in progress at the end of 2019
(CHF 81,000) began amortizing in 2020 as of the date they were placed in service.
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Note 3.8: Payables and Accruals
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Vendor payables
Accruals
Other liabilities
Total payables and accruals

3,155

1,690

823

772

88

94

4,066

2,556

87.
Payables to vendors relate to amounts due for goods and services for which invoices
have been received.
88.
Accruals are liabilities for the cost of goods and services that have been received or
provided to WMO and which have not been invoiced by suppliers as of the reporting date.

Note 3.9: Employee Benefits
Employee benefits comprise:
Post-Employment Benefits
89.
Post-employment benefits are defined benefit plans consisting of UNJSPF, After-Service
Health Insurance Plan (ASHI) and Repatriation Grant and related benefits.
90.

Arrangements relating to the UNJSPF are set out in paragraphs 113 to 123.

91.
ASHI is a plan that allows eligible retirees and their eligible family members to
participate in the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society (UNSMIS), with a portion of the
monthly premium paid by WMO.
92.
Repatriation benefits consist of a repatriation grant lump sum, travel of the staff
member and eligible dependants and shipment of their personal effects. The Organization pays
the amounts due for repatriation grant, travel and relocation expenses for the entitled staff
members.
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Other Long-Term Employee Benefits
93.
Other long-term employee benefits include accumulated balances of annual leave and,
where applicable, compensation payments in the case of death, injury or illness attributable to
performance of duties.
94.
As the accumulated balance of annual leave is generally not wholly utilized in the 12
months following the balance sheet date, it is considered by IPSAS 39 as an “other long-term
employee benefit”.

2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
After-service health insurance

74,496

86,227

Repatriation liabilities

5,835

5,468

Accumulated annual leave

4,345

4,301

Total benefits

84,676

95,996

Current liabilities – Short-term benefits
Non-current liabilities – Long-term
benefits

5,376

5,083

79,300

90,913

84,676

95,996

Total benefits
Accumulated Annual Leave Liability

95.
There is an increase in overall liabilities relating to accumulated annual leave of
CHF 44,000. This increase was due to two offsetting factors. First, there was a decrease in
liabilities relating to annual leave which have not been utilized due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Despite the continued impact of the pandemic, including worldwide restrictions on travel, the
average number of annual leave days accrued by staff member decreased from 35 days at
31 December 2020 to 31 days at 31 December 2021. This decrease was offset by the
recruitment of a number of staff members during 2021. Payments for the commutation of
annual leave to separating staff members decreased by CHF 1.1 million to CHF 0.4 million in
2021 from CHF 1.5 million in 2020.
Actuarial Valuations of Post – Employment and Other Separation – Related Benefits
96.
Liabilities arising from post-employment benefits and other separation-related benefits
are determined by a professional independent actuary. These employee benefits are established
for staff members who are entitled to such benefits under WMO Staff Regulations and Staff
Rules. A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 31 December 2021. The prior valuation
performed on 31 December 2020 was also a full actuarial valuation.
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97.
The CHF 11.3 million (12.4%) decrease in the post-employment and other separationrelated liabilities is mainly due to the following:
(a)
(b)
(c)

An increase of 4.6% arising from one additional year of service and interest on
liabilities amounting to CHF 4.2 million;
A decrease of 2.2% following payment of benefits amounting to CHF 2.0 million;
A decrease of 14.8% due to a net actuarial gain on the benefits of CHF 13.5 million
relating to increases in the discount rate and decreases in the assumed medical
cost trend rate, offset by an increase in the salary rate inflation and pension
indexation.

98.
The accrued benefit obligation represents that portion of the present value of future
benefits that had been accrued from the staff members’ date of entry on duty until
31 December 2021, the date of valuation. Active staff members’ benefits are considered fully
accrued when they reach their dates of full eligibility for benefits.
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods
99.
During each actuarial study, WMO in conjunction with the actuary, reviews and selects
assumptions that will be used by the actuaries in the year-end valuation to determine the
expense and contribution requirements for WMO’s after-service benefit plans (post-employment
benefits and other separation-related benefits).
100. The following assumptions have been used to determine the value of post-employment
and other separation-related employee liabilities for WMO at 31 December 2020:
Economics assumptions
ASHI
Discount rate:
0.50% (2020: 0.40%)
The discount rate is estimated to approximate the single equivalent rate such that
the present value of the plan’s cash flows (i.e. expected as from 31 December
2021; for 2020 as from 31 December 2020) using the single rate that equals the
present value of those cash flows using the spot rate at each maturity of the AA
Corporate Bonds yield as at 31 December 2021 (2019: 31 December 2020) for the
relevant currency (primarily CHF, with approximately 5% in EUR and 10% in USD).
The reference spot rates are based upon the Aon yield curve and were provided by
the UN Headquarters.
For sensitivity analysis purposes, an estimate of the liability for ASHI has been
prepared utilizing the Swiss government bond rates as opposed to the AA Corporate
bond yield. If this rate had been utilized in the estimate of the ASHI liability, the
amount of the liability would have increased by 12.5%, or approximately
CHF 9.3 million to CHF 83.8 million at 31 December 2021.
Pensionable Remuneration Increase Rate: 2.50% (2020: 2.0%)
Salary increase rate:
The salary increase rate as per UNJSPF salary scale has been applied, as per
following sample rates:
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Age
20
30
40
50
60

Age
20
30
40
50
60

At 31 December 2021
General service
staff
6.83%
6.47%
5.27%
4.87%
4.47%
At 31 December 2020
General service
staff
6.33%
5.97%
4.77%
4.37%
3.97%

Professional staff
9.07%
7.07%
5.27%
4.27%
3.97%

Professional staff
8.57%
6.57%
4.77%
3.77%
3.47%

Healthcare cost increase rate:
As at 31 December 2021, the health care cost increase rate has been set to a
constant rate for the future of 2.50% which is in line with the long-term nominal
medical trend rates as per the UN guidelines. As at 31 December 2020, it was set
to 2.90%.
Claim cost/ contribution rate:
The contributions rates applied as at 31 December 2021, which are unchanged
compared to 31 December 2020, are the following:

Retired member only
Retired member with one
dependent
Retired member with more
than one dependent

Payable
by
insured
person
3.4%

Payable
by WMO
6.8%

4.4%

8.8%

4.8%

9.6%

Repatriation:
Salary increase rate:
Same as ASHI
Discount rate (using US dollar yield curve*):
2.40% (2020: 1.90%)
Travel cost increase rate:
2.00% (2020: 2:00%)
*the spot rates have been provided by UN Headquarters
For sensitivity analysis purposes, an estimate of the liability for repatriation related
entitlements has been prepared utilizing the Swiss government bond rates as
opposed to the AA Corporate bond yield. If this rate had been utilized in the
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estimate of the repatriation related entitlement liability, the amount of the liability
would have increased by 20.8%, or approximately CHF 1.2 million to
CHF 7.0 million at 31 December 2021.

Demographic assumptions
The tables of UNJSPF have been applied for both 2021 and 2020 with respect to
mortality, disability and early retirement rate, as these are based on the
demographic experience of the UN Joint Staff Pension Fund. Turnover rates are
based upon WMO specific experience. The following provides the details relating to
the demographic assumptions:
Disability:

UNJSPF tables for 2021 and 2020

Mortality:

UNJSPF tables – The post retirement mortality rates utilized
are headcount weighted, gender-distinct mortality rates with
static longevity improvements applied for healthy retirees and
beneficiaries

Retirement rates:

UNJSPF tables – The retirement rates are gender-distinct and
vary based upon professional or general service staff and
years of service.

Participation:

95% of future retirees are assumed to elect post-retirement
medical coverage for 2021 and 2020

Spousal coverage:

60% of future retirees are assumed married at retirement and
elect coverage for their spouse for both 2021 and 2020. Males
are assumed to be 3 years older than spouse

Turnover rates:

Based upon WMO specific experience as summarized in the
following table for both 2020 and 2019:
Age
30
35
40
45
50
55
60+

Turnover Rate
20%
12%
7%
7%
5%
8%
10%

The turnover rates for those aged over 55 are only applied if the
staff member is not yet eligible for ASHI
101.

Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation for 2021
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After-service
health insurance

Repatriation

(Swiss Francs thousands)

102.

Benefit obligation at 31
December 2020

86,227

5,468

Service cost for 2021

3,101

645

Interest cost for 2021

341

94

Benefits paid in 2021

(1,546)

(463)

Actuarial (gain)/loss

(13,627)

91

Benefit obligation at 31
December 2021

74,496

5,835

Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation for 2020
After-service
health insurance

Repatriation

(Swiss Francs thousands)

103.

Benefit obligation at 31
December 2019

81,812

5,589

Service cost for 2020

2,999

661

Interest cost for 2020

405

143

Benefits paid in 2020
Actuarial (gain)/loss

(1,416)
6,415

(789)
13

Curtailments

(3,998)

(149)

Benefit obligation at 31
December 2020

86,227

5,468

Reconciliation of recognized actuarial gains / losses
After-service
health insurance
Actuarial
gains/(losses) at 31
December 2020
Movement during the
year
Actuarial
gains/(losses) at 31
December 2021

Repatriation

Total

(Swiss Francs thousands)
(18,961)

1,794

(17,167)

13,627

(91)

13,536

(5,334)

1,703

(3,631)
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104. In the 2021 valuation of employee benefits liabilities, the actuaries have determined net
actuarial gains under post-employment benefits and other separation-related benefits of CHF
13.5 million (2020: net actuarial losses of CHF 6.4 million). Of this amount, an actuarial gain of
CHF 13.7 million relates to changes in financial assumptions, an actuarial loss of CHF 0.2
million relates to experience adjustments, and there was no impact of changes in demographic
assumptions.
105.

Annual Expense is comprised of the following:
2021

2020

(Swiss Francs thousands)

Service cost
Interest cost

3,746
435

3,660
548

Total

4,181

4,208

106. During 2020, WMO implemented a reform and reorganization of the Secretariat. As a
result of this reorganization certain staff members’ contracts were terminated early. This
reorganization was deemed to be a curtailment for purposes of IPSAS. As such, the resulting
reduction in the liability of CHF 4.1 million, of which CHF 4.0 million related to the ASHI liability
and CHF 0.1 million related to the repatriation liability, was recognized in income during 2020.
107. The composition of the defined benefit obligation for ASHI between active staff members
and retires is as follows:
31 December 2021

31 December 2020

(Swiss Francs thousands)
Active staff members
Retirees

29,281
45,215

34,990
51,237

Total ASHI obligation

74,496

86,227

After-Service Health Insurance – Sensitivity Analysis
108. Two of the principal assumptions in the valuation of ASHI are: (i) the rate at which
medical costs are expected to increase in the future; and (ii) the discount rate used to
determine the present value of benefits that will be paid from the plan in the future.
109. A sensitivity analysis was undertaken to determine the impact of the above assumptions
on the liability and service cost under IPSAS 39.
110. The effect of an increase of one percentage point and the effect of a decrease of one
percentage point in the discount rates are shown below:
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ASHI Benefit Obligation
at 31 December 2021
Amount
Repatriation Related
Benefit Obligation at 31
December 2021
Amount

Discount rate
currently reflected

Discount rate
increase +1%

Discount rate
decrease -1%

74,496

- 16.8%

+ 22.2%

Discount rate
currently reflected

Discount rate
increase +1%

Discount rate
decrease -1%

5,835

- 6.4%

+ 7.4%

111.
The effect on the ASHI DBO of an increase of one percentage point and the effect of a decrease of one
percentage point in the assumed medical cost trend rates are shown below:
ASHI Benefit Obligation
at 31 December 2021
Amount
Effect

Service cost and interest
cost 2021
Amount
Effect

Healthcare cost
currently reflected

Healthcare cost
increase +1%

74,496
Healthcare cost
currently reflected

98,039

56,239

23,543

(18,257)

Healthcare cost
increase +1%

3,442
-

Healthcare cost
decrease -1%

Healthcare cost
decrease -1%

5,085

2,270

1,643

(1,172)

Expected Costs during 2021
112. The expected contribution of WMO in 2021 to the employee benefit plans is CHF 2.7
million
United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF)
113. WMO is a member organization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff Pension
Fund (the “Fund”), which was established by the United Nations General Assembly to provide
retirement, death, disability and related benefits to employees. The Fund is a funded, multiemployer defined benefit plan. As specified in Article 3(b) of the Regulations of the Fund,
membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other
international, intergovernmental organization which participates in the common system of
salaries, allowances and other conditions of service of the United Nations and the specialized
agencies.
114. The Fund exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the
current and former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result
that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets and costs
to individual organizations participating in the Fund. WMO and the Fund, in line with the other
participating organizations in the Fund, are not in a position to identify WMO’s proportionate
share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets and the costs associated with the plan
with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence, WMO has treated this plan as if it
were a defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits.
WMO’s contributions to the Fund during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the
Statement of Financial Performance.

p. 56
115. The Fund’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuarial valuation
made of the Fund at least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary. The practice of the
Pension Board has been to carry out an actuarial valuation every two years using the Open
Group Aggregate Method. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine
whether the current and estimated future assets of the Fund will be sufficient to meet its
liabilities.
116. WMO’s financial obligation to the Fund consists of its mandated contribution, at the rate
established by the United Nations General Assembly (currently at 7.9% for participants and
15.8% for member organizations) together with any share of any actuarial deficiency payments
under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Pension Fund. Such deficiency payments are only
payable if and when the United Nations General Assembly has invoked the provision of Article
26, following determination that there is a requirement for deficiency payments based on an
assessment of the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund as of the valuation date. Each member
organization shall contribute to this deficiency an amount proportionate to the total
contributions which each paid during the three years preceding the valuation date.
117. The latest actuarial valuation for the Fund was completed as of 31 December 2019. A
roll forward of the participation data as of 31 December 2019 to 31 December 2020 was used
by the Fund for its 2020 financial statements.
118. The actuarial valuation as of 31 December 2019 resulted in a funded ratio of actuarial
assets to actuarial liabilities, assuming no future pension adjustments, of 144.4%. The funded
ratio was 107.1% when the current system of pension adjustments was taken into account.
119. After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary concluded
that there was no requirement, as of 31 December 2019, for deficiency payments under Article
26 of the Regulations of the Fund as the actuarial value of assets exceeded the actuarial value
of all accrued liabilities under the plan. In addition, the market value of assets also exceeded
the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities as of the valuation date. At the time of this report,
the General Assembly has not invoked the provision of Article 26.
120. Should Article 26 be invoked due to an actuarial deficiency, either during the ongoing
operation or due to the termination of the Fund, deficiency payments required from each
member organization would be based upon the proportion of that member organization’s
contributions to the total contributions paid to the Fund during the three years preceding the
valuation date. Total contributions paid to the Fund during the preceding three years (2018,
2019 and 2020) amounted to USD 7,131.6 million, of which 0.5% was contributed by the WMO.
121. During 2021, contributions paid to the Fund by WMO amounted to CHF 11.3 million
(2020 CHF 11.9 million), of which CHF 7.5 million was borne by WMO, and CHF 3.8 million by
staff members. Expected contributions due in 2021 are approximately CHF 12.0 million, of
which CHF 8.0 million is expected to be borne by WMO, and CHF 4.0 million is expected to be
borne by staff members.
122. Membership of the Fund may be terminated by decision of the United Nations General
Assembly, upon the affirmative recommendation of the Pension Board. A proportionate share
of the total assets of the Fund at the date of termination shall be paid to the former member
organization for the exclusive benefit of its staff who were participants in the Fund at that date,
pursuant to an arrangement mutually agreed between the organization and the Fund. The
amount is determined by the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Board based on an actuarial
valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Fund on the date of termination; no part of the
assets which are in excess of the liabilities are included in the amount.
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123. The United Nations Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the Fund and reports
to the Pension Board and to the United Nations General Assembly on the audit every year. The
Fund publishes quarterly reports on its investments and these can be viewed by visiting the
Fund at www.unjspf.org.
Note 3.10: Contributions received in advance
2021
Assessed contributions received in
advance
Other advance receipts
Contributions received in advance

124.

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
10,192

9,486

10,192

9,486

Assessed contributions received in advance are for 2022 and later years.

Note 3.11: Unearned income from exchange transactions
2021
Unearned income from exchange
transactions

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
651

1,607

125. Unearned income from exchange transactions relates to funds received under
agreements accounted for as exchange transactions for which the related service has not yet
been performed and, as such, the related revenue has not yet been earned.
Note 3.12: Deferred revenue
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Current:
Contributions received
Contribution pledged
Office rental advances
Total current deferred revenue

23,031

24,807

5,388

4,994

83

121

28,502

29,922

Contributions received

14,525

17,783

Contributions pledged

12,710

15,099

Total non-current deferred revenue

27,235

32,882

Total deferred revenue

55,737

62,804

Non-current:
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126. Deferred revenue represents voluntary contributions which have been received, or
pledges of voluntary contributions, when the written agreement with the donor becomes
binding if the agreement included conditions related to specific performance of services to third
parties and where the return of unexpended balances is the normal experience with the donor.
127. As at 31 December 2021, the amount of deferred revenue has decreased to CHF 55.8
million from CHF 62.8 million at 31 December 2020. Due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, the implementation of activities under voluntary contributions has been delayed,
resulting in the reduction of additional voluntary contributions. This has resulted in a reduction
in the overall level of deferred revenue, in both the current and non-current categories.
Although not quantifiable at this time, some amount of revenue that has been deferred may
need to be refunded if the underlying activities ultimately cannot be implemented and
extensions are not granted by the donor.
Note 3.13: Borrowings
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Current

1,442

1,442

Non-current (amortized)

27,560

28,314

Total Borrowings

29,002

29,756

128. The amounts shown as borrowings in these financial statements consist of borrowings
made by WMO from FIPOI with respect to funding of the construction of the WMO Headquarters
Building. The loan was entered into in 1997 for a total amount of CHF 75.8 million and is to be
repaid by WMO over 50 years, through 2048. The loan does not bear interest and requires
annual payments from WMO to FIPOI in the amount of CHF 1,477,300. The undiscounted
balance of the loan outstanding at 31 December 2021 is CHF 39,888,224 (CHF 41,365,524 at
31 December 2020). Of this amount, CHF 1,477,300 is payable in 2022, and the balance in
subsequent years. The loan is discounted based upon the effective interest method using the
historical discount rate of 2.43%.

Note 3.14: Provisions
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Litigation

330

3,687

Contributions refundable to donors

1,580

1,898

Total provisions

1,910

5,585
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129. During 2021, UNDT found in favour of WMO in a legal case relating to the Post
Adjustment Multiplier utilized by WMO in the determination of the salaries professional staff in
Geneva. At 31 December 2020, a provision of CHF 3.3 million had been recognized related to
this case. As a result, the provision was reversed during 2021 with the offsetting reduction to
salary and employee benefit costs.
130. At 31 December 2020, one additional case had been deemed probable of being decided
in favour of a former staff member. In December 2021, the UNDT found in favour of the staff
member and issued a final judgement of compensation in March 2022. Based upon this final
judgement the provision related to this case has been increased to CHF 0.2 million.
131. There were additional cases proceeding against the Organization with the United Nations
Appeal Tribunal (UNAT) or UNDT in which the cases on balance could be decided either in the
favour of the Organization or for the staff member. The total estimate that the agency would
be liable for related to these cases is approximately CHF 0.1 million, which has been recorded
as a provision in these financial statements.
132. The amounts of contributions refundable to donors has decreased by CHF 0.3 million to
CHF 1.6 million as at 31 December 2021. The decrease is due primarily to the actual refund of
a number of contributions to donors at the end of a project, offset by additional potential
refunds to donors as at 31 December 2021.
133. Although not quantifiable at this time, as a result of delays in the implementation of
some activities due to the COVID-19 pandemic, additional amounts of voluntary contributions
may need to be refunded if the underlying activities ultimately cannot be implemented and
extensions are not granted by the donor.
134.

The movement of the provisions during 2021 is as follows:
2020

Utilization

Reversal

Increased

2021

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Litigation

3,687

Contributions
refundable to
donors

1,898

Total

5,585

-

(3,457)

100

330

(444)

(95)

221

1,580

(444)

(3,552)

321

1,900

Note 3.15: Funds Held in Trust
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Funds Held in Trust – IPCC

18,078

13,791

Funds Held in Trust – GEO

7,755

6,277

Funds Held in Trust – Other entities

3,181

3,047

29,014

23,115

Funds Held in Trust
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135. Funds held in trust are funds held by WMO on behalf of entities for which WMO provides
accounting and other administrative support, but of which the Organization has shared or no
control under IPSAS 35. The financial statements of such entities are not consolidated in WMO’s
financial statements. WMO acts as a bank for all those funds since they do not maintain their
own bank accounts. The balance towards these funds represents the cash held by WMO for
these funds. At 31 December 2021, WMO held funds in trust for the Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC), the Group on Earth Observations (GEO), the Typhoon Committee –
ESCAP, and the Tropical Cyclones Panel. WMO had joint control with other organizations over
the Joint WMO/ICSU/IOC Climate Research Fund (JCRF), the Global Climate Observing System
(GCOS), and the Data Buoy Cooperation Panel (DBCP).
136. WMO has working relationships with the GEO, DBCP, the Typhoon Committee – ESCAP,
the Tropical Cyclones Panel, IPCC, JCRF and GCOS. The Organization provides space, personnel
administration, financial administration, procurement services and other administrative support
to each of these entities which in turn provide technical and programmatic efforts in areas that
assist WMO in carrying out its mandate. WMO negotiated agreements with DBCP, GEO,
Typhoon Committee – ESCAP and the Tropical Cyclones Panel, to set up the reimbursement for
the cost of services provided based on percentage charges.
137. WMO provides, without charge, space including meeting facilities and administrative
support services to IPCC which was established jointly by WMO and the United Nations
Environment Programme. WMO provides financial support to IPCC including financing the
salary of the IPCC Secretary. The services to JCRF and GCOS are free of charge.
138.

WMO provides, without charge, space up to a maximum of 10 staff to GEO.

139. Included in the Funds Held in Trust at 31 December 2020 was CHF 254,000 of funds
provided by a donor on a pass through basis. In this arrangement, WMO acts as the coordinator
and receives and disburses funds to the other partners in the arrangement but does not have
operational responsibility for the implementation by the other partners. No Funds Held in Trust
related to pass through arrangements were held at 31 December 2021
Note 3.16: Interest in Joint Ventures and Associates
140. The Organization has no ownership interest in controlled entities. WMO is part-owner of
joint ventures including the Joint WMO/ICSU/IOC Climate Research Fund (JCRF), GCOS, and
DBCP. In accordance with IPSAS, only those funds or entities of which WMO has control or joint
control are consolidated by applying the equity method.
Proportion of Ownership
2021

2020

Funds included as Joint Ventures:
• Joint WMO/ICSU/IOC Climate Research Fund
• GCOS

87%
40%

86%
50%

Funds included as Associates:
• DBCP

50%

50%
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141. The share of ownership is based either on the proportion of contributions made to each
entity by contributors, where such method is defined in the arrangement, as is the case with
the Joint WMO/ICSU/IOC Climate Research Fund and GCOS, or on an equal basis where the
method of determining the share of ownership is not defined in the arrangement, as is the case
with DBCP.
WMO’s share of Joint Ventures and Associates
2021
2020
Swiss Francs
(Thousands)
1,870
2,053
1,266
(1,914)
604
139

Revenue
Expenses
Add/ (minus):
Movement in WMO’s share in net assets/ equity
Surplus/(deficit) for year
Add:
Opening balance of WMO’s share of net assets/equity
Closing balance of WMO’s share of net assets/
equity 31 December

(37)
567

(111)
28

1,056

1,028

1,623

1,056

Note 3.17: Employee Benefits Reserves
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Recruitment and termination benefits reserve

-

-

Post-retirement benefits reserve
Net actuarial gain/(loss) arising from Actuarial
Valuations of Employee Benefits

2,194

2,027

(3,630)

(17,166)

(1,436)

(15,139)

Total employee benefits reserves
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142. Two reserves have been established by the Executive Council as facilities for funding
and/or financing specific activities under specific circumstances. There are currently: the
Recruitment and Termination Benefits Reserve and the Post-Retirement Benefits Reserve.
143. The Recruitment and Termination Benefits Reserve was established by Resolution 20 (ECXXVII) to meet end-of-contract and recruitment costs, which are not specifically budgeted. The
Reserve is funded from a 4 percent charge on payroll costs in accordance with Resolution 14
(EC-LXI). Due to the reorganization and restructuring that occurred in 2020 and the resulting
additional staff members hired during 2021, the amounts funded via the 4 percent charge on
payroll costs were insufficient to meet the annual pay-as-you-go costs during 2020 and 2021.
144. The Reserve for Post-Retirement Benefits was established by Resolution 7 (EC-LII) to
meet ASHI benefits of WMO’s staff on a pay-as-you-go basis. It is funded from a 4 percent
charge on payroll costs for regular budget funded activities and a 7 percent charge on payroll
costs for voluntary funded activities, with effect from 1 January 2021, in accordance with
Resolution 15 (EC-72).
145. The Reserve for Employee Benefits also includes net actuarial gains and losses arising
from the actuarial valuations of employee benefits which are determined by a professional
actuary at the end of each financial period. During 2021, the actuary assessed an actuarial gain
of CHF 13.5 million

p. 63
NOTE 4: RISK ANALYSIS
146. WMO was exposed to the following financial instruments at the reporting date. All of the
below financial assets are considered Loans and Receivables and the financial liabilities are
measured at amortized cost. Due to their underlying nature, the carrying value of the below
financial instruments approximates their fair value. None of the financial instruments represent
derivative financial instruments.

Financial Instruments
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Assessed contributions receivable
Voluntary contributions receivable
Other receivables
Sub-total financial assets
Accounts payable
Loans payable
Sub-total financial liabilities
Financial instruments – net exposure

2021
2020
Swiss Francs (thousands)
123,132
110,756
20,270
16,573
19,014
21,069
331
375
162,747
148,773
3,155
29,002
32,157

1,690
29,756
31,446

130,590

117,327
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Credit Risk
147. Credit risk and liquidity risk associated with cash and cash equivalents are minimized
substantially by ensuring that cash assets are placed with major financial institutions that have
been accorded suitable investment grade ratings by a primary rating agency.
148. Contributions receivable comprise primarily amounts due from sovereign nations. Details
of contributions receivable, including allowances for reductions in contribution revenue and
doubtful accounts, are provided in Note 3.2. WMO does not hold any securities against
contributions receivable. During 2021, 71% of the receivables related to the 2021 assessment
were paid in full (79% at 31 December 2020 related to the 2020 assessment) and CHF 30.8
million of receivables were past due (CHF 25.2 million at 31 December 2020). A provision for
delayed collection of assessed contributions of CHF 10.5 million existed at 31 December 2021
(CHF 8.6 million at 31 December 2020) and WMO has, as at 31 December 2021, Payment
Agreements with Members involving outstanding contributions amounting to CHF 0.4 million (CHF
0.4 million at 31 December 2020).
149. Projects funded with voluntary contributions are implemented when contributions are
received, thereby eliminating credit and liquidity risk.
150. During 2021, the regular budget was funded by assessed contributions from Members, of
which 68% was assessed on 10 Members (the same as 2020). The Organization faces a liquidity
risk if those Members delay the payment of their contributions. Of the unpaid assessed
contributions of CHF 30.8 million as at 31 December 2021 (CHF 25.2 million at 31 December
2020), 48% represented contributions from one Member (29% in 2020).
Liquidity Risk
151. WMO’s total of cash and equivalents at 31 December 2021 of CHF 123.1 million
(CHF 110.8 million at 31 December 2020) was sufficient to meet its current liabilities at that
date of CHF 81.1 million (CHF 78.8 million at 31 December 2020). On an ongoing basis, it is
anticipated that WMO will have sufficient liquidity to pay all debts due. The maturity of the final
liabilities is reflected in Statement I – Statement of Financial Position.
152. Implementation of WMO’s regular budget for the General Fund is done against the
receipt of assessed contributions. In the event that a shortfall of contributions arises then the
Organization can draw funding down from the Working Capital Fund pending receipt of
assessed contributions.
153. Implementation of activities in Regular Budget Support Funds; Event Funds;
Development, Technical Assistance and Technical Cooperation Funds; and National Technical
Support Funds are funded by voluntary contributions and cannot commence until the
contribution has been received. Budgets are only allotted to the level of contributions received.
154. These procedures are adequate to ensure that there is sufficient cash to meet
contractual liabilities.
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Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
155. The cash and investment portfolio of WMO remains safe, in line with its investment
policy, as it holds high-quality assets aimed at preserving principal. Investment income on bank
and cash balances for 2021 was reduced from positive CHF 6,000 in 2020 to negative CHF
129,000 in 2021. Negative CHF interest rates, the primary currency in which WMO operates,
were the main driver for the decrease in investment revenue.
156. During 2021, banking partners of WMO charged negative interest on funds held in
excess of certain thresholds. WMO is expected to continue to pay negative interest on a large
proportion of its CHF balances of its holdings during 2022. Efforts are being made to mitigate
the negative interest rate exposure, such as diversifying CHF holdings across WMO banking
partners, holding multiple currencies at banking partners, renegotiating ceilings with banking
partners, etc.; however, these efforts are unlikely to fully mitigate the negative interest rate
exposure
157. Other than as discussed in the preceding paragraphs, there was no exposure to interest
rate risk during 2021.
Currency Risk
158. The WMO budget is funded by assessed contributions in Swiss Francs (CHF), the
functional and reporting currency of the Organization. As at 31 December 2021, CHF 93.2
million (75.7%) of the total cash balance of CHF 123.1 million was held in CHF (Note 3.1). The
remaining balance of CHF 29.9 million was held in other currencies (CHF 32.1 million at
31 December 2020). The balance is a result of voluntary contributions received in currencies
other than CHF for activities that are not yet fully implemented, as well as from increases of
funds held in Trust as described in Note 3.16. An increase or decrease of between 5 and 10 per
cent of the levels of foreign currency to CHF can be summarized as follows:
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Effect of exchange rate fluctuations between the Swiss Franc on other
currencies
(Amounts in thousands)
Effect in CHF of increase /
CHF
Balance in foreign currency at:
equivalent of decrease in the value of
foreign currency
balance at
31 December
31 December
31 December
Currency
2021
2020
2021
of +/- 5%
of +/- 10%
USD
26,966
30,728
24,674.2
1,234
2,467
JPY

17,152

17,238

136.7

7

14

GBP

1,633

1,544

2,014.3

100

201

EUR

2,447

2,462

2,541.2

127

254

529.6

27

53

SGD
Other
Total

783
-

410
-

27.0

1

3

29,923.0

1,496

2,992

159. WMO’s net assets consist of its accumulated surplus, reserves for employee benefits, the
capital of the Working Capital Fund, and the capital of award and prize funds. The surplus of
the General Fund is managed in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 (Funds) of the
Financial Regulations of WMO. Surplus arising from activities funded with voluntary
contributions is managed in accordance with donor agreements. Reserves for employee benefits
are managed in accordance with resolutions of the Executive Council. The Working Capital Fund
is set aside to maintain sufficient levels of liquidity and to cover operational deficits should they
occur.
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Note 5: REVENUE
2021

2020

5.1 Assessed contributions

67,886

67,886

5.2 Voluntary contributions
Voluntary contributions - settled
Voluntary contributions - unsettled
Less: Refunds
Total voluntary contributions

18,859
154
(134)
18,879

19,213
200
(1,200)
18,213

5.3 Revenue from services

1,885

1,919

5.4 Other revenue
Currency exchange differences
Realized gain/(loss)
Unrealized gain/(loss)
Total currency exchange differences

(661)
1,189
528

(1,288)
(3,033)
(4,321)

2,058
84
37
281
(128)
2
2,862

1,462
205
122
207
6
4
(2,315)

1,870

1,870

Rental office facilities
Inter-fund contributions
Other income
Programme support cost income
Interest
Publications
Total other revenue
5.5 In-kind contributions
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160. Assessed contributions relate to the apportionment of the approved regular budget of
WMO to the WMO Members.
161. Total revenue from voluntary contributions increased by CHF 0.6 million in 2021 as
compared to 2020. The revenue from voluntary contributions remained similar to 2020 levels
due to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on activities funded from voluntary
contributions.
162. All of the voluntary contributions of CHF 18.9 million were subject to restrictions which,
in general, relate to funds received for specific activities. Some of these restrictions rose to the
level of conditions, thus requiring an initial deferral of revenue until such conditions were met.
163. Revenue from services has decreased by CHF 0.1 million during 2021 as overall
activities related to advisory services have slightly decreased.
164. Other revenue is comprised of a number of elements, the most significant of which are
as follows:
(a)

Currency exchange differences: During 2021, the USD increased in value against
the CHF, the second major currency held, by 3.6%. As a result of this some of the
previous year’s decrease in value of 9.4% which resulted in a revaluation of USD
loss, were recovered;

(b)

Rental of office facilities increased during 2021 as two new tenants entered into
agreements to rent space in the WMO Headquarters Building.

165. Investment income on bank balances and deposits for 2021 was reduced from
CHF 6,000 interest earned in 2019 to negative interest charged of CHF 129,000 in 2021. As
discussed in Note 4: Risk Analysis, the main driver for the decrease is the ongoing level of
negative CHF interest rates of approximately negative 0.75% imposed by the Swiss National
Bank (SNB) and passed on to account holders with partner banks.
166. During 2021 in-kind contributions have been recognized in respect of land and an
interest free loan provided by the Swiss authorities (FIPOI). In-kind contributions are expensed
at the same time as they are recognized as revenue.
167. WMO also receives services in-kind from Members which are not recognized in these
accounts as WMO did not have control over the services in-kind and could not measure the fair
value of these services. The services in-kind which are provided by Members relate to the
support provided for WMO meetings held in their countries.
168. WMO has offices in seven countries. Six of the Host Governments provide various
services in-kind in relation to these offices including the provision of office premises, furniture
and equipment, vehicles, support staff and support services. As the fair values of these in-kind
services could not be measured accurately, they are not recognized in these accounts.
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Note 6: EXPENDITURE
2021
6.1

Salaries and employee benefits
Staff costs
Employee benefits
Consultancy costs
Total salaries and employee benefits

6.2

Meetings and projects
Project expenditure
Organization of meetings
Total meetings and projects

6.3

Travel
Staff travel
Travel of permanent representatives with WMO
Other third parties
Total travel

6.4

Supplies, consumables and other running costs
IT - services, software and equipment (noncapitalized)
Building maintenance and security
Purchase of furniture and equipment (noncapitalized)
Utilities
Stationery and supplies
Other running costs
Total supplies, consumables and other running
costs

6.5
6.6

2020

(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

45,011
5,388
4,434
54,833

49,993
4,145
4,377
58,515

6,217
1,237
7,454

7,643
1,405
9,048

214
0
94
308

318
0
312
630

3,140
1,256

3,476
1,275

580
323
246
595

1,081
381
126
134

6,140

6,473

In-kind expenditure
Rental value of land and interest on FIPOI loan

1,870

1,870

Finance costs
Change in provision for delay in collection of
receivables
Discounting LT receivables and Loans
Write-offs
Bank charges
Total finance costs

1,927
810
0
69
2,806

616
648
58
1,322

313
516
829

422
477
899

949
145
230
14
106
78
1,522

740
67
68
5
118
86
1,084

6.7

Fellowships
Fellowships
Training
Total fellowships

6.8

Other expenditures
Other
Auditor's remuneration
Public information
Hospitality
Insurance
Staff training and development
Total other expenditure
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169. During 2021, total salary and employee benefits expense decreased by 6% to CHF 54.9
million from CHF 58.5 million. There were a number of factors that led to this decrease as
follows:
(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

Reversal of Provision for Post Adjustment Case. As discussed in Note 3.14, the
provision related to the Post Adjustment Multiplier was eliminated following a
decision by the UNDT. This resulted in a reduction in staff costs of approximately
CHF 4.8 million for 2021 as compared to 2020 (reduction of CHF 3.3 million credit
in 2021 as compared to a CHF 1.5 million expense in 2020);
2020 WMO Secretariat Restructuring expenses not incurred in 2021. During 2020,
the WMO Secretariat underwent a restructuring. Amongst other impacts in 2020,
this resulted in the payment of termination indemnities of CHF 2.2 million as well as
a curtailment gain on employee benefit liabilities of CHF 4.1 million. These
expenses did not occur in 2021;
Overall additional expense for the hiring of interpreters as a result of more virtual
meetings requiring interpretation, which resulted in an increase of approximately
CHF 0.8 million of staff costs;
Due to the timing of the recruitments, additional staff positions that had been
approved could not be hired until the last part of 2021; therefore, the salary
expense for these positions was not incurred in 2021.

170. Expenses in 2021 on meetings and projects was lower by 18% in 2021 as compared to
2020. The reduction in expenditures was due to a lower level of expenditure for project-related
activities as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, primarily experienced in the extrabudgetary
funded activities.
171. Travel related expenses continued to be significantly impacted by the COVID-19
pandemic. As a result of these restrictions, as well as the modification of modalities for
implementation of programmatic activities, travel expenses incurred in 2021 were only CHF
308,000, which represents a reduction of over 90% from the pre-pandemic levels.
172. 2021 experienced a small overall decrease in expenses related to supplies, consumables
and running costs, primarily in the area related to non-capitalized furniture and equipment. This
reduction was partly offset by increases in other running costs related primarily to outsourced
services that had previously been done by WMO staff members prior to the restructuring in
2020.
173. In-kind expenditures represent the estimated cost of the land and interest free loan
provided by the Swiss authorities (FIPOI). In-kind contributions are expensed at the same time
as they are recognized as revenue.
174. Finance costs relate primarily to the provisions associated with potential delays in
collectability or non-collectability of receivables as well as the effect of the implicit discounting
of the interest free loan provided by FIPOI.
175. Fellowships and training expenses had a slight decrease in 2021 as fellowship
expenditures continued to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic as the institutions adapted
hybrid method of learning where many of the fellows were studying.
176. Other expenditures represent various types of expenditures and a number of these
categories experienced increase in 2021 due to the uptake activities such has hospitality.
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NOTE 7: STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL AMOUNTS
177. Basis differences occur when the approved budget is prepared on a basis other than the
accounting basis. WMO’s budget and accounts are prepared using a different basis. The
Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Financial Performance, Statement of Changes in
Net Assets and Statement of Cash Flow are prepared on a full IPSAS accrual basis using a
classification based on the nature of expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance,
whereas the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts (Statement V) is
prepared on a commitment accounting basis.
178. As required by IPSAS 24, the actual amounts presented on a comparable basis to the
budget shall, where the financial statements and the budget are not prepared on a comparable
basis, be reconciled to the actual amounts presented in the financial statements, identifying
separately any basis, timing and entity differences. There may also be differences in formats
and classification schemes adopted for presentation of financial statements and the budget.
179. Timing differences occur when the budget period differs from the reporting period
reflected in the financial statements. There are no timing differences for WMO for purposes of
comparison of budget and actual amounts.
180. Entity differences occur when the budget omits programmes or entities that are part of
the entity for which the financial statements are prepared. Under entity differences, bilateral
operations and trust funds form part of WMO activities and are reported in the financial
statements although they are excluded from the budgetary process.
181. Presentation differences are due to differences in the format and classification schemes
adopted for presentation of the Statement of Financial Performance by Segment (Note 8.2) and
Statement V – Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts.
182. The WMO Budget in Statement V applies only to the Regular Budget/General Fund as
shown in Segment Reporting Note 8.2. The reconciliation between the actual amounts on a
comparable basis in the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts (Statement V)
to the actual amounts in the Statement of Financial Performance (Statement II) for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is integrated in Statement V.
183. Further detail related to the comparison of the expenditures under the regular budget as
shown on Statement V and the actual expenditure for the General Fund Group as shown in Note
8.2, including the comparative amounts from the year ended 31 December 2020 is presented
below:
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2021
Actual amount on comparable basis
(Statement V)
Plus :
Basis difference – obligations for
prior years and other differences
Depreciation and amortization
Write-offs
Expense in-kind
Employee benefits: interest and
current service cost less benefits
paid
Loss on discounting long-term
liabilities
Provisions
Expense of Special Accounts
outside regular budget (not in
Statement V)
Other adjustments
Less:
Basis difference – obligations for
goods and services not received in
2021 / 2020
Loan repayment
Actual amount in the Statement of
Financial Performance by segment
(General Fund Note 8.2)

Note

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
62,655

60,005

3.6/3.7

100
4,167

6.5

1,870

528
4,211
1,870

3.9

2,216

(2,054)

3.13
3.14
See
below

3.13

723
(1,085)

741
616

1,341
(2)

1,564
(6)

7,380

2,483

1,477

1,477

63,128

63,565
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184. The details of the Revenue, Expense and Net Surplus / (Deficit) of the other Funds under
the General Fund Group are shown in the below table (in thousands of Swiss Francs):
FUND

REVENUE

EXPENSE

NET SURPLUS /
(DEFICIT)

REGULAR BUDGET

70,119

61,787

8,182

SPECIAL ACCOUNT
FOR HQ BUILDING

1,748

103

1,645

PSC SPECIAL
ACCOUNT

2,086

1,156

930

297

106

191

(73)

(24)

(49)

74,177

63,128

11,049

CONFERENCE
FACILITIES
SPECIAL ACCOUNT
OTHER
TOTAL

185. Open commitments including open purchase orders and net cash flows from operating,
investing and financing activities are presented as basis differences. Revenue and non-fund
relevant expenses that do not form part of the Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual
Amounts are reflected as presentation differences.
186. Budget amounts have been presented on a functional classification basis in accordance
with the 2020–2021 biennium budget which presents a breakdown of the budget by year for
purposes of the above comparison.
187. Additional information regarding the description of the variance between budget and
actual amounts is described in the Secretary-General’s Statement which is reported to the
Executive Council in connection with these Financial Statements.
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NOTE 8: SEGMENT REPORTING

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash equivalents
Assessed contributions receivable
Voluntary contributions receivable
Inventories
Advances for projects and meetings
Other receivables
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Assessed contributions receivable
Voluntary contributions receivable
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Interest in joint ventures and associates
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

Note 8.1 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION BY SEGMENT
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)
DEVELOPMENT,
REG'L BUDGET
TECH ASS. &
TECH -COOP
GENERAL
SUPPORT
EVENT
FUND
FUNDS
FUNDS
FUNDS

74,828
20,206
(0)
35
656
1,703
97,428

64
60,987
266
61,317
158,745

NATIONAL
TECH SUPP.
FUNDS

TOTAL

31 December
2020
(Restated)

14,691
173
566
78
15,508

56
56

33,559
8,471
8,039
703
50,772

(2)
(2)

123,132
20,206
8,643
35
9,261
2,485
163,762

110,756
16,346
10,601
77
8,095
2,647
148,522

21
21
15,529

56

10,349
1,623
11,972
62,744

(2)

64
10,371
60,987
266
1,623
73,311
237,073

227
10,468
64,537
337
1,056
76,625
225,147

2
2

1,472
651
24,739
1,337
6
28,204

0
0
0

4,066
5,376
10,192
651
28,502
1,442
1,910
29,014
81,153

2,556
5,083
9,486
1,607
29,922
1,442
5,585
23,115
78,796

0

79,300
27,235
27,560
134,095
215,248

90,913
32,882
28,314
152,109
230,905

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables and accruals
Employee benefits
Contributions received in advance
Unearned revenue from exchange transactions
Deferred revenue
Borrowings
Provisions
Funds held in trust
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Employee Benefits
Deferred revenue
Borrowings
Total Non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

2,370
5,376
10,192
83
1,442
330
29,028
48,821

224
3,680
243
(22)
4,125

79,300
27,560
106,860
155,681

212
212
4,337

2

27,023
27,023
55,227

Net assets

3,064

11,192

54

7,516

(2)

21,825

(5,758)

NET ASSETS/EQUITY
Capital funds
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Employee benefits reserves
Total net assets/equity

6,786
(2,285)
(1,436)
3,064

239
10,953
11,192

54
54

7,516
7,516

(2)
(2)

7,024
16,237
(1,436)
21,825

7,024
2,357
(15,139)
(5,758)
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Note 8.2 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BY SEGMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in thousands of Swiss Francs)

REVENUE
Assessed contributions
Voluntary contributions
Voluntary contributions received
Voluntary contributions - pledged
Less: Refunds
Total voluntary contribtutions

GENERAL
FUND
67,886

REG'L BUDGET
SUPPORT
FUNDS
-

DEVELOPMENT,
TECH ASS. &
TECH -COOP
FUNDS

EVENT
FUNDS
-

-

NATIONAL
TECH SUPP.
FUNDS

INTERSEGMENT
ELIMINATIONS

TOTAL

2020
(Restated)

-

-

67,886

67,886

-

18,859
154
(134)
18,879

19,213
200
(1,200)
18,213

16
16

5,656
54
(11)
5,699

-

13,187
100
(123)
13,164

-

Revenue from Services
Other revenue
In-kind contributions
Total Revenue

4,405
1,870
74,177

184
(356)
5,527

(0)
(0)

1,701
(943)
13,922

0
0

(245)
(245)

1,885
2,861
1,870
93,381

1,919
(2,315)
1,870
87,573

EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits
Meetings and Projects
Travel
Supplies, consumables and other running costs
Depreciation and amortization
In-kind expenditures
Finance costs
Fellowships
Other expenditures
Movement in share of Net Assets/Equity of JVs
Interest in joint ventures and associates
Total Expenses

45,441
2,532
282
4,499
4,304
1,870
2,687
324
1,189
63,128

3,274
567
(2)
419
2
12
59
56
4,387

-

6,118
4,600
28
1,222
107
446
277
37
(604)
12,231

0
0

(245)
(245)

54,833
7,454
308
6,140
4,306
1,870
2,806
829
1,522
37
(604)
79,501

58,515
9,048
630
6,473
4,211
1,870
1,322
899
1,084
111
(139)
84,024

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

11,049

1,140

(0)

1,691

0

13,880

3,549

-
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188. Some internal activities lead to accounting transactions that create inter-segment
revenue and expense balances in the financial statements. Inter-segment transactions are
reflected in the above tables to accurately present these financial statements and are then
eliminated for consolidated reporting purposes.
189. Contributions for operations and other activities are recognized as revenue, or deferred
revenue, when these contributions are confirmed in writing. Expenses are incurred gradually
over time according to projects’ and beneficiaries’ needs.
190. Accumulated fund balances under programme category funds and bilateral operations
and trust funds represent the unexpended portion of contributions that are carried forward to
be utilized in future operational requirements of the programmes.

NOTE 9: LEGAL OR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
191. Other than as discussed in Note 3.14, there were no legal liabilities at 31 December
2021 or 2020. WMO was contingently liable for long-term liabilities related to employee
benefits of persons who have been hired by WMO for entities which are administered by WMO.
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, that liability amounted to CHF 3.9 million.
NOTE 10: LOSSES, EX-GRATIA PAYMENTS AND WRITE-OFFS
192. WMO Financial Regulation 13.4 provides that “The Secretary-General may with the
approval of the President make such ex-gratia payments as he deems to be necessary in the
interest of the Organization, provided that a statement of such payments shall be submitted to
the Executive Council with the financial statements as detailed in Article 14.1”. There were no
ex-gratia payments made during 2021.
193. WMO Financial Regulation 13.5 provides that “The Secretary-General may, after full
investigation, authorize the writing-off of losses of cash, stores and other assets, except unpaid
contributions to the regular budget, provided that a statement of all such amounts written off
shall be submitted to the External Auditor with the financial statements”. During 2021 and
2020, there were no write-offs.
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NOTE 11: COMMITMENTS
NOTE 11.1 Operating Leases (WMO Lessee)
2020
2021
Swiss Francs (thousands)
Under 1 year
1 – 5 years
Beyond 5 years
Total
Expense recognized

7

7

14

21

-

-

21

28

7

7

194. The leases cover 28 heavy-duty photocopiers and 2 heavy-duty printers. The lease for
the photocopiers was renewed on 29 March 2018, effective 1 April 2018 for a duration of five
years. The charge for the photocopiers under the new lease is based primarily on usage by
“paper click”, with no additional charge for the toners, and limited amounts for rental of the
equipment. The rental cost of the printers was CHF 6,780 and the usage cost was CHF 27,650
(2020 expense was CHF 77,000 representing CHF 7,000 for rental fees and CHF 70,000 for
photocopies).
NOTE 11.2 Operating Leases (WMO Lessor)
2021

2020

Swiss Francs (thousands)
Under 1 year

1,446

1,330

1 – 5 years

2,497

1,163

Beyond 5 years

-

-

Total

3,943

2,493

Income recognized

1,646

1,179

195. At 31 December 2021, WMO was leasing out office space to nine tenants for which it
recognized income amounting to CHF 1,646,000. The increase in income is due from new
tenants occupying the building.
NOTE 11.3 Other Commitments
196. At 31 December 2021, WMO had commitments for the acquisition of goods and services
contracted but not delivered amounting to CHF 7.5 million (2020: CHF 6.7 million).
197. Under IPSAS 1 on accrual accounting and on the basis of the delivery principle,
commitments for future expenses are not recognized in the financial statements. Such
commitments will be settled from the unexpended portion of contributions after receipt of the
related goods or services.
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NOTE 12: RELATED PARTY AND OTHER SENIOR MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURE
Note 12.1: Key Management Personnel
Compensation
Number and post
of posts adjustment

Entitlements

Pension
and
health
plans

Termination
indemnities

Outstanding
advances
against
entitlements
at 31.12

Outstanding
loans at
31.12

1,073,118

-

-

1,097,990

-

-

Total
remuneration

Swiss Francs
Key
management
personnel,
2021
Key
management
personnel,
2020

3

777,995

105,608

189,514

3

794,441

108,451

195,098

-

198. Key management personnel are the Secretary-General, the Deputy Secretary-General,
and the Assistant Secretary-General, as they have the authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of WMO. The Executive Council is composed a president,
three vice-presidents, the six regional association presidents and of 27 other directors of
National Meteorological or Hydrometeorological Services, serving in an individual capacity as
representatives of the Organization and not as representatives of particular Members thereof.
199. The aggregate remuneration paid to key management personnel includes: net salaries,
post adjustment, entitlements such as representation allowance and other allowances,
assignment and other grants, rental subsidy, personal effect shipment costs, employer pension
and current health insurance contributions, and termination indemnities.
200. Key management personnel are also qualified for post-employment benefits at the same
level as other employees. These benefits cannot be reliably quantified.
201.

Key management personnel are ordinary participants of UNJSPF.
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NOTE 13: EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
202. WMO’s reporting date is 31 December 2021. On the date of signing of these accounts,
there have been no material events, favourable or unfavourable, incurred between the
Statement of Financial Position date and the date when the financial statements have been
authorized for issue that would have impacted these statements.
Authorization for Issue
203. These financial statements are certified by the Secretary-General and Assistant
Secretary-General of WMO, in accordance with the WMO Financial Regulations and Rules.

p. 80
ANNEX A
Summary of Trust Fund Information
The following tables present information related to WMO Trust Funds as at 31 December 2021
and for the year then ended. The financial information presented in the tables below is based
upon the IPSAS financial statements. Table 1 presents summary financial information by Trust
Fund group in line with IPSAS Segment Reporting. In addition, information for the Trust Funds
created in 2021 is presented in Table 2.
Table 1 – Summary financial information by Trust Fund Group as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (in CHF 000’s)
Trust Fund Group

Total
Revenue

Total
Expense

Total
Assets

Total
Liabilities

Net
Assets

Regular Budget Support
Funds

5,527

4,387

15,529

4,337

11,192

Event Funds

-

-

56

2

54

Development, Technical
Assistance and
Technical Cooperation
Funds

13,922

12,231

62,744

55,227

7,516

National Technical
Support Funds

-

-

(2)

-

(2)

19,449

16,618

78,327

59,566

19,761

Total

Table 2 – Summary information of Trust Funds created in 2021 (in CHF 000’s)

Trust Fund Name

Trust Fund
Segment

2021
Revenue

2021
Expense

Reimbursable Advisory
Services to Côte d’Ivoire

Deferred
Revenue at 31
December
2021

Dev, TA, TC

562

-

-

1

1

51

13

13

187

100

-

-

Canadian Brewer Trust
Fund
SDC Brava
SOFF Secretariat Early
Operations

Regular
Budget
Support
Dev, TA, TC
Dev, TA, TC
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ANNEX B
Name

Address

WMO

World Meteorological Organization

7 bis, avenue de la Paix
1211 Geneva 2
Switzerland

Legal Counsel

WMO Legal Counsel

7 bis, avenue de la Paix
1211 Geneva 2
Switzerland

Actuaries

Aon

avenue Edouard Rod 4
1260 Nyon
Switzerland

Auditor

President
Corte dei conti

Viale Giuseppe Mazzini, n. 105
00195 Rome
Italy

_____________

